# Annual Cycles of Fat Bodies and Gonads in the Toad Bufo bufo bufo (L.),

Compared with Cycles in other Temperate Zone Anurans

By C. BARKER JØRGENSEN LIS OLESEN LARSEN and BRIAN LOFTS

> Det Kongelige Danske Videnskabernes Selskab Biologiske Skrifter 22:5



Kommissionær: Munksgaard København 1979

DET KONGELIGE DANSKE VIDENSKABERNES SELSKAB udgiver følgende publikationsrækker:

THE ROYAL DANISH ACADEMY OF SCIENCES AND LETTERS issues the following series of publications:

Oversigt over Selskabets Virksomhed (8°) (Annual in Danish)

Historisk-filosofiske Meddelelser (8°) Historisk-filosofiske Skrifter (4°) (History, Philology, Philosophy, Archaeology, Art History)

Matematisk-fysiske Meddelelser (8°) (Mathematics, Physics, Chemistry, Astronomy, Geology)

Biologiske Skrifter (4°) (Botany, Zoology, General Biology) Bibliographical Abbreviation Overs. Dan. Vid. Selsk.

Hist. Filos. Medd. Dan. Vid. Selsk. Hist. Filos. Skr. Dan. Vid. Selsk.

Mat. Fys. Medd. Dan. Vid. Selsk.

Biol. Skr. Dan. Vid. Selsk.

Selskabets sekretariat og postadresse The address of the Academy is:

Det Kongelige Danske Videnskabernes Selskab, Dantes Plads 5, DK-1556 Copenhagen V. Denmark.

Selskabets kommissionær The publications are sold by the agent of the Academy:

MUNKSGAARDS BOGHANDEL, 6, Nörregade, DK-1165 Copenhagen K. Denmark.

# Annual Cycles of Fat Bodies and Gonads in the Toad *Bufo bufo bufo (L.)*,

Compared with Cycles in other Temperate Zone Anurans

*By* C. BARKER JØRGENSEN LIS OLESEN LARSEN *and* BRIAN LOFTS

> Det Kongelige Danske Videnskabernes Selskab Biologiske Skrifter **22**:5



Kommissionær: Munksgaard København 1979

# Synopsis

The annual cycles in nutritional condition, as evaluated from the weight of the *fat bodies*, and in *gonadal function* were studied in populations of *toads* from northern suburbs of Copenhagen, supplemented with samples of toads collected in other parts of Denmark. The results were compared with data from other species in order to assess the patterns in annual cycles of *nutritional states* and *reproduction* in *temperate zone anurans*.

After *hibernation* and breeding in spring most toads have small fat bodies, whereas medium to large fat bodies predominate during summer and early fall. Females mostly develop larger fat bodies than males. Fat body size tend to decrease again during late fall, indicating that the toads start to draw upon their energy stores already before hibernation.

After breeding the *ovaries* enter a resting period, lasting 2-3 months, before the next *ovarian cycle* begins. The initiation and maintenance of an ovarian cycle require secretion of *gonadotropin* from the pituitary gland at high levels. The activation of gonadotropin secretion seems to depend upon the restoration of an appropriate nutritional condition of the organism.

BRIAN LOFTS

Department of Zoology University of Hong Kong Hong Kong Ovarian cycles are not being initiated during late summer or in the fall. A mechanism presumably exists which prevents activation of gonadotropin secretion so late in the season that vitellogenetic oocytes cannot complete growth before hibernation. Female toads therefore breed annually or biennially depending upon whether they reach a suitable nutritional condition within a few months after breeding or not. In Denmark most females breed annually.

Male toads seem to breed every year. The *spermatogenetic activity* starts shortly after the spawning period, and it reaches a maximum during summer. Concomitant with the build-up of spermatogenetic activity the *interstitial tissue* regresses, as well as the *secondary sex characters*, the *thumbpads*. During fall and winter the interstitial tissue recovers, and the thumbpads develop again.

The pattern of annual cycles in nutritional state and gonadal function and their relationships as observed in the toad seem to be typical of temperate zone anurans.

> C. BARKER JØRGENSEN & LIS OLESEN LARSEN Zoophysiological Laboratory A University of Copenhagen Universitetsparken 13 2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

© Det Kongelige Danske Videnskabernes Selskab 1979 Printed in Denmark by Bianco Lunos Bogtrykkeri A/S. ISSN 0366-3612. ISBN 87-7304-085-1

# Contents

Material and Methods
Results
Annual life cycle
Fat body cycle
Ovary cycle
Ovary weight
Number of oocytes and stage in vitellogenetic growth
Atresia of large oocytes 14
Oviduct cycle
Testis cycle
Testis weight 15
Spermatogenesis, interstitial tissue, and thumbpads 15
Discussion and Comparisons 19
Fat body cycle
Ovary cycle
Resting period
Ovary weight
Size and number of eggs
Atresia
Oocyte maturation and ovulation
Control mechanisms
Oviduct cycle
Testis and thumbpad cycles
Testis weight and spermatogenesis
Tubular histochemical cycle
Thumbpads and interstitial tissue cycles
Relationships between fat bodies and gonads
References
Plates I-III between p. 16 and p. 17

3

# Material and Methods

An extensive literature deals with gonadal cycles, reproductive patterns, and energy balances in amphibians, especially in species inhabiting the temperate zone. The literature is, however, scattered, and most studies are incomplete or fragmentary. Detailed studies on cycles in wild populations of amphibians are therefore greatly needed, both because of their intrinsic value, and because they constitute the basis for an understanding of behavioural and physiological adaptations of the species to their habitats.

This paper describes the annual cycles of fat bodies and gonads in Danish populations of the toad *Bufo bufo bufo*. The cycle in size of fat bodies reflects the cycle in nutritional state of the organism.

Part of the material has been published previously in preliminary form (Jørgensen, 1973a).

A systematic study was performed of annual cycles of gonads, oviducts, thumbpads, and fat bodies in female toads collected during the years 1965-66 and in male toads collected during the years 1966-67 in woods and parks located in northern suburbs of Copenhagen. The material includes 68 sexually mature, 41 immature female toads, and 71 sexually mature male toads. The material has been supplemented with toads, especially females, obtained over the years 1963-72 from different localities in Denmark (Fig. 1).

The toads were killed, by decapitation, within one to some few days after sampling. Toads that were not autopsied at capture were kept outdoors until sacrifice. Specimens examined during winter and early spring were collected during. October. They hibernated until sacrifice in outdoor quarters in moss and leaves. At sacrifice the various organs were immediately dissected out and fixed in Bouin's fluid. The gonads, oviducts, and fat bodies were weighed before fixation.

The functional state of the ovaries was determined by counting the numbers of large vitellogenetic oocytes under a dissecting microscope, and by determining the size-frequency-distribution of the oocytes. Also atretic oocytes were counted (Jørgensen, 1973b).

Fig. 1.

Map of Denmark showing localities for collection of toads *Bufo* bufo. A, Allinge; C, Christiansø; Co, Copenhagen; F, Falster; G, Gudhjem; H, Hallebyore; K, Klampenborg; L, Lellinge; V, Vendsyssel.



6

The functional state of the testes was determined by histological and histochemical analysis. A portion of the Bouin fixed testicular tissue and a thumbpad were wax-embedded and sectioned at  $4\mu$ m and  $6\mu$ m, respectively. Testicular sections were stained with iron haematoxylin and orange G for investigation of the spermatogenetic condition. The degree of spermatogenetic activity was estimated by counting all the germinal cysts in different spermatogenetic stages in 20 cross sections of testis tubules. The mean for each spermatogenetic stage was then estimated and used as representative of the condition in that particular specimen. The different stages were represented as follows:

0 = cell nest with one primary spermatogonium

- = cell nest with secondary spermatogonia
- = cell nest with primary spermatocytes
- III = cell nest with secondary spermatocytes
- IV = cell nest with spermatids

Ι

Π

V

S

- = Sperm bundles attached to a Sertoli cell
- = arbitrary indication of the amount of free spermatozoa in the tubule lumen

The sectioned thumbpad material was stained with haematoxylin and eosin.

Additional testicular material was fixed in formal-saline fluid and, after post-chroming, embedded in gelatin. Thin frozen sections,  $4\mu$ m thick, were coloured with Sudan Black B and carmalum to reveal the lipoidal condition. Thicker sections ( $10\mu$ m to  $15\mu$ m) were subjected to the Schultz test for cholesterol and unsaturated sterols.

# Results

## Annual life cycle

Gonadal and reproductive cycles in populations of toads living at higher latitudes are closely correlated with the alternating periods of hibernation and nonhibernation.

The duration of the hibernating and nonhibernating states varies geographically, as well as with local annual climatic variations. In Denmark, sexually mature *Bufo bufo bufo* usually emerge from hibernation underground and migrate to the breeding ponds in April. Observations over 20 years, from 1957 to 1978, showed that in 9 of the years the toads gathered at the breeding ponds during the first half of April, in 10 of the years during the second half of April, and only in one year as late as early in May (Werner Nielsen, personal communication).

The factors that regulate the duration of the hibernating state have not been studied systematically, but apparently temperature and precipitation are of primary importance. In cold and dry springs the toads will emerge later from hibernation than in warm and wet springs. Also internal factors may be of importance in determining when toads emerge from hibernation. In late winter higher temperatures are needed to make toads emerge than in spring. Thus, it was observed that male toads hibernating in earth in a wooden box remained buried for at least a week when exposed to a temperature of about 10°C in early March. But later in the season, in April, toads have been observed in amplexus at temperatures close to zero.

Emergence from hibernation presumably takes place several days, or even weeks, before the sexual-

ly mature toads start their migration to the spawning grounds, but little is known about the behaviour between termination of hibernation and initiation of the synchronous breeding migration of populations of toads. Breeding migrations include the entire population of sexually mature toads of a specific geographical area. Migrations seem to be triggered or favoured by a particular constellation of climatic factors, including afternoon rain combined with high temperature during the period following discontinuation of hibernation. Such specific combinations of climatic conditions may act to synchronize the migrations to and gatherings at the spawning grounds within populations of toads (Knud-Erik Hede, personal communication; Heusser 1968c).

The sexually mature toads do not feed until after spawning, and not before the temperature has reached about 11-12°C (Heusser, 1968b; Hanne Gyde Poulsen, personal communication). Moreover, toads do not seem to spend much time on feeding during the month following spawning. Very few catches of toads have been recorded from May. Toads are most easily caught from July to September, presumably because this is the period of the year when they are most actively feeding.

It is not known which factors determine when the toads enter the hibernating state, but probably both internal and external factors are involved, as in the case of emergence from hibernation.

The last observations of toads active above ground during the years from 1967 to 1973 have varied between early October and early November, during an exceptionally mild autumn.



#### Fig. 2.

Annual cycle in size of fat bodies of the toad *Bufo bufo bufo*, expressed as a percentage of the body weight. s,  $\leq 0.1\%$ ; m, 0.2-1%; l, > 1%.\* Early June values included in April-May group. The material includes 131 males, 355 mature females, and 116 adult-sized females (>50 g b.w.) with ovaries lacking large oocytes. Ordinate: percentage of toads in the various groups.

#### Fat body cycle

The size of the fat bodies reflects the nutritional state of the toads. The annual waxing and waning in mass of the fat bodies therefore indicate variations in the nutritional state. When food is amply available and the climate is optimal the fat bodies grow due to fat deposition. When food is scarce or when temperatures are too low for feeding, fat is mobilized, and the fat bodies diminish in size.

In temperate zone amphibians and reptiles fat body size is correlated with gonadal development. The annual variation in fat body mass was therefore followed separately in sexually mature and immature females, and in sexually mature males (Fig. 2).

The data have been grouped according to the following periods: around and immediately after breeding (April-May), early summer, (June-July), late summer (August-September), and autumn (October-November). The fat bodies of mass up to 0.1% of the body weight were classified as small, fat bodies amounting to 0.2-1% of the body weight as medium-sized, and more than 1% as large. Completely reduced fat bodies, deprived of the fat stores, weigh about 0.01% of the body weight. Maximum weights recorded amount to about 5% of the body weight.

It may be seen from Fig. 2, that data from spring for immature females are lacking. This is because sexually immature toads emerge later from hibernation than the sexually mature, and therefore are not easily available for sampling at this time of the year. During all the subsequent sampling periods large fat bodies predominated in immature females.

Most females caught during or shortly after the breeding season had small fat bodies. During summer the proportion of sexually mature females with large fat bodies increased and decreased again during autumn.

Also in sexually mature males, small fat bodies prevailed around the breeding season. In early and late summer medium-sized fat bodies predominated. Unfortunately, no males were caught during late autumn. It is, however, indicated that also in the males the fat bodies tend to decrease in size before hibernation. It may be seen from Fig. 3 that fat body weights reach their maximum values in July-August. It may also be seen that fat body weights tend to decrease after breeding and reach their minimum values in early June. The most striking difference in fat body mass is between mature and immature females, i.e. females with and without large oocytes in the ovaries. It is noteworthy that in the males, fat bodies mostly do not reach large sizes during the annual cycle. This is not due to an inherent difference in capacity for fat deposition between males and females. When males are maintained well fed in the laboratory, they develop fat bodies amounting to several percent of the body weight as do female toads (unpublished data).

The finding that, especially in sexually mature females, mean fat body weights decreased significantly during late fall indicates that fat reserves accumulated during the summer season begin to be drawn upon already in the prehibernating period. The question, therefore, arises as to the importance of fat bodies and other energy depots in covering the toads' metabolic requirements before as well as during and after hibernation. The pattern of utilization of energy depots varies greatly both between individuals within a population of toads and between populations inhabiting various localities. It also varies from year to year, probably depending upon prevailing feeding conditions. This large variation in patterns of annual fat body cycles is illustrated by the following examples.

Small fat bodies in sexually mature females ready to hibernate. Out of 10 female toads collected at Hallebyore, Zealand (Fig. 1), at the end of October, when hibernation has usually started, 9 were sexually mature. They all prossessed fat bodies practically depleted of fat (mean weight 0.03% of the body weight, with a range from 0.01 to 0.06%). The ovaries contained normal batches of full-sized oocytes in all 9 toads. One adult female, which had not produced a batch of large eggs that season, had large fat bodies, amounting to 2.1% of the body weight.

Reduction in fat body size during hibernation as a function of fat body size. (1). A group of female toads caught during October-November at Allinge,



Fig. 3.

Annual cycle in size of fat bodies, expressed as a percentage of the body weight, in male toads, *Bufo bufo bufo*, collected north of Copenhagen. Open circles indicate toads collected in the years 1963-1965; filled circles in the year 1966. Vertical lines indicate standard errors of the means and superscript figures numbers of toads in the groups. (1) Toads collected during migration to the breeding ground; (2), toads in amplexus at capture; (3), toads collected in amplexus about 2 weeks previously. Ordinate: weight of fat bodies as a percentage of body weight.

Bornholm (Fig. 1), included exceptionally many specimens that had not developed large eggs, but had large fat bodies. The fat body mass was measured in groups of such females kept in a refrigerator at about 4°C. The initial mean fat body weight in a sample of 17 toads was  $1.7 \pm 0.4\%$  of the body weight. After 1 month in the refrigerator the mean fat body weight was  $3.2 \pm 0.7\%$  (18 toads), after 3 months it was  $2.7 \pm 0.5\%$  (9 toads). No significant mobilization of the fat body depots could, therefore, be demonstrated after 3 months of simulated hibernation.

(2). A group of male toads was caught in late September and stored in the refrigerator, at  $5-6^{\circ}$ C, until the end of October when part of the toads was placed in an outdoor enclosure, where they buried themselves in the ground. The other toads remained in the refrigerator. Samples of 5 animals were autopsied monthly from each of the hibernation sites. The weights of the fat bodies are shown in

	December	January	February	March	April
Refrigerator	1.2(0-2.4)	0.2(0-1.0)	0.3(0-1.3)	0	0
Outdoors	0.3(0.2-0.5)	0.8(0.1-1.7)	0.7(0-1.6)	0.5(0-1.3)	0.3(0-1.2)

Table 1. Effect of low temperature and hibernation on fat body size in the toad<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Figures indicate mean and range of fat body weights expressed as a percentage of the body weight. Each sample includes 5 male toads. 0 indicates that fat bodies weighed less than 0.1% of the body weight.

Table 1. It can be seen that in the December-February samples the fat bodies ranged from small to large both among the toads from the refrigerator and among those hibernating outdoors. However, the mean weight of the fat bodies in the refrigerator toads decreased, and all toads sacrificed in March and April had completely emptied fat bodies. The mean fat body weights did not change significantly in the toads hibernating outdoors. It is noteworthy, however, that whereas no toads had completely reduced fat bodies in the outdoor samples from December and January, such reduced fat bodies were observed i each of the samples from February to April.

(3). In a group of 8 female toads freshly caught in September the weight of the fat bodies was  $0.18 \pm 0.04\%$  of the body weight. Further 7 toads of the same batch were kept hibernating outdoors until sacrifice at the end of March. At this time the fat bodies were practically emptied in all toads, the mean weight being 0.02% of the body weight. The batches of large eggs in the ovaries were normal with no or insignificant atresia among the eggs.

It is thus indicated that fat bodies that are small or medium-sized at the beginning of hibernation may be completely depleted of their fat at the end of hibernation, whereas large fat bodies mostly remain large also at the end of the hibernation period. It is, moreover, indicated that storage in the refrigerator at 5°C may cause faster depletion of fat from the fat bodies than does hibernation outdoors under conditions that more closely simulate hibernation in wild toads.

#### Ovary cycle

The reproductive capacity of female toads is expressed as the biomass of the eggs deposited during breeding. This biomass is determined by (1) the number of oocytes recruited to the final vitel-logenetic growth, (2) number of oocytes that degenerate before ovulation or do not ovulate during spawning, and (3) the size of the full grown eggs. In the following, the ovarian cycle is analyzed in terms of ovarian weight, oocyte growth (vitellogenesis), number of large oocytes.

#### Ovary weight

Fig. 4 shows the annual cycle in weight of ovaries that contain oocytes in the final vitellogenetic growth phase. Weights are also shown of newly spawned ovaries before a new batch of small oocytes has been recruited to the final growth phase. The figure includes samples of toads caught at a number of different localities. The open circles represent the samples collected north of Copenhagen in the years 1965/66. It may be seen that prior to spawning the ovaries constitute about 18-19% of the body weight. Immediately after spawning their weight drops to about 2.5%.

Toads are most easily caught when they gather on the spawning grounds. This is reflected by the relatively large number of toads studied immediately before and after spawning. In the following months both number of samples and of toads in the samples are few, partly because of difficulties in finding toads during the months of May to July and



#### Fig. 4.

partly because at this time of the year a large proportion of toads has not yet started a new ovarian cycle (see below). Fig. 4 shows that ovarian weights are still low in sexually mature toads caught in June and the greater part of July. By the end of July and during August there is a great increase in ovarian weight. By the end of September the ovarian weight amounts to about 14% of the body weight. It remains constant during hibernation. However, shortly before spawning the relative weight increases. There was no significant difference in ovarian weight in toads newly emerged from hibernation or collected on their way to the spawning grounds and in toads during amplexus, before ovulation had commenced.

The increase in weight of the ovaries prior to spawning was significant. In a sample of 57 mature female toads sacrificed just before and during hiberAnnual cycle in weight of ovaries and oviducts, expressed as a percentage of the body weight, in female toads, *Bufo bufo bufo*. Circles indicate ovaries, points oviducts. Open circles indicate toads collected in the region north of Copenhagen during the years 1965 - 1966, filled circles toads collected from various parts of Denmark during the years 1963 - 1972 (see Fig. 1). Vertical lines indicate standard errors of the means, and superscript figures numbers of toads in the groups.

nation, from October to early March, the mean ovarian weight was  $13.7 \pm 2.2\%$  of the body weight and in a sample of 46 toads collected shortly before spawning the weight was  $18.4 \pm 2.5\%$  (P<0.001).

As the toads ranged in weight from 39 to 139g the relations between ovarian weight and body weight were analyzed by linear regression. The following relations were found between ovarian weights and body weights in the two groups of toads:



Fig. 5.

Annual ovarian cycle in female toads, *Bufo bufo* bufo, collected in a region north of Copenhagen during the years 1965 – 1966. Ordinate: number of large oocytes in ovaries, expressed per 100 g body weight. , Oocytes full-grown; , oocytes in late growth phase; , oocytes in middle growth phase; , oocytes in early growth phase. Vertical lines indicate standard errors of the means and superscript figures number of toads in the groups. Figures below indicate number of adult-sized toads (>50 g b. wt.) with ovaries lacking large oocytes. a, Toads in amplexus at capture; pr, prespawning toads.

(1) October-March sample: y = -1.76 + 0.16x(n = 48; r<sup>2</sup> = 0.84) (2) April (pre-breeding) sample: y = -1.13 + 0.20x(n = 45; r<sup>2</sup> = 0.78).

Calculated for a body weight (x) of 100g, the ovarian weights (y) are 14.2g and 18.9g, respectively.

The mean body weight of the October-March samples was 85g and the mean ovary weight was 11.8 = 13.9g/100g body weight. The mean body weight of the April sample was 89g and the mean ovary weight was 16.7g = 18.8g/100g body weight. The mean values of the samples thus differed only insignificantly from the values obtained by the linear regression, supporting that the weight of the full grown ovaries is closely correlated with the body weight.

Number of oocytes and stage in vitellogenetic growth

Fig. 5 shows the number of large vitellogenetic oocytes present in the ovaries of the females collected north of Copenhagen 1965/66. The vitellogenetic growth is staged as early, middle, late, and finished growth.

At the time of breeding the ovaries contained about 5,000-7,000 large oocytes per 100g body weight. The ovaries of adult females caught in late April and May had not yet recruited oocytes to the final vitellogenetic growth phase. In June, vitellogenetic growth had commenced in 3 out of 9 adult females, and full numbers of final growth phase oocytes had been reached in the 2 toads with ovaries in the middle stage of growth. It can be seen that full numbers of oocytes can be present even in ovaries in the early growth stage. It is thus indicated that recruitment of oocytes to the final growth phase is complete early in the ovarian cycle. In the August sample the middle growth phase predominated. From October onwards the large oocytes had finished growth. In Danish populations of B. bufo, adult females thus predominantly recruit oocytes to the final growth phase early in the summer, and vitellogenetic growth is fastest later in summer (Jørgensen, 1973a).

Most large females captured during late summer and autumn do possess ovaries containing oocytes in the final growth phase. However, non-typical females can be encountered. Thus, only a few large females, of body weight well above 100g, collected at Allinge, Bornholm (Fig. 1), during the month of October, contained ovaries with oocytes that had finished growth (see p. 9). Mostly, the ovaries contained no final growth phase oocytes, or the oocytes were in a very early stage of growth. Some of the toads were kept artificially hibernating in a refrigerator at about  $4^{\circ}$ C. There was no clear change in the developmental status of the ovaries during hibernation. Toads collected from the same locality in October the following year exhibited normal ovarian patterns (Fig. 6).

The numbers of large oocytes have been counted in the ovaries of toads sampled from different localities. In some instances the dominant size of the full grown oocytes was also determined. The mean numbers in the samples varied from about 4,000 to about 7,000 per 100g body weight (Fig. 7). There was no correlation between body weight and number of oocytes/100g body weight. There were statistically highly significant differences in mean numbers of oocytes, e.g. in toads from Christiansø and Hallebyore on one hand and from Falster and

#### Fig. 6.

Example on an atypical pattern of ovarian function in adult-sized female toads, *Bufo bufo bufo*, collected at Allinge, Bornholm (see Fig. 1), in two subsequent autumns. Further explanation, see legend to Fig. 5. Toads from October 1969 and September 1970 are freshly collected. Toads autopsied in November and February belonged to the batch collected in October 1969.





Fig. 7.

Numbers of large oocytes in ovaries of toads collected during autumn at different localities in Denmark. Figures to the left of the mean values indicate number of toads in the groups and vertical lines standard errors of the means. Letters to the right of the mean values refer to localities identified on Fig. 1. Abscissa: mean body weight of the toads; ordinate: number of oocytes expressed per 100 g b. wt. Differences in body weights were highly significant between samples of toads from F and A, and C and A (P < 0.001). Differences in numbers of oocytes per 100 g b. wt. were highly significant between samples of toads from F and H, F and C, F and L, F and K, and C and A (P < 0.001).

Vendsyssel on the other. This difference in oocyte numbers did not show any clear geographical trend.

The size of the full grown oocytes varied inversely with the number of oocytes (Fig. 8). An inverse relationship between number and size of full grown oocytes was expected because no significant differences have been observed in mean ovary weights expressed per 100g body weight in samples obtained from the different localities in Denmark (Fig. 4). Apparently the same amount of yolk stored in the ovaries may be distributed among varying numbers of oocytes. It remains to be seen whether the differences observed in mean numbers of oocytes in





#### Fig. 8.

Relationship between number and predominant size of fullgrown oocytes in ovaries of populations of toads from various Danish localities. Abscissa: number of large oocytes per 100 g b. wt. Ordinate: predominant oocyte size, in mm. , Vendsyssel; x, Lellinge; , Falster; +, Christiansø; , Allinge; , Gudhjem (see Fig. 1).

samples obtained from different localities are representative for the populations sampled, and thus may be genetically determined, or whether the differences are caused by varying local factors in the environment. Fig. 7 shows that the mean body weights of the samples of toads also varied, from about 75g to 120g, the differences being statistically highly significant. Again it remains to be seen whether the differences between body sizes of sexually mature females in the various populations are genetically determined or not.

## Atresia of large oocytes

Atretic large oocytes are commonly observed in the ovaries of adult female toads. The atretic oocytes are easily recognized by their content of black pigment, which is the last component of the oocyte to become degraded and reabsorbed. It is not well known how long it takes a large oocyte that has become atretic to disappear completely, but it lasts many months. No systematic studies are available on the frequency of atresia among the large oocytes of wild toads. Atretic oocytes were therefore counted in the ovaries of samples of toads collected at various localities in autumn. The result is shown in Table 2. It can be seen that atresia was absent in 8 out of the 38 toads included in the study. Slight to moderate atresia, up to 30% of the number of intact large oocytes, was observed in more than half the toads. Mostly the atretic oocytes were small, presumably mainly representing oocytes that did not ovulate during spawning the previous spring. However, also large, *i.e.* more recently degenerated oocytes were found regularly, indicating that atresia may occur as a sporadic phenomenon within a healthy population of oocytes. In one of the 38 toads the number of atretic oocytes equalled that of the healthy large oocytes, indicating that a complete batch of oocytes had become atretic.

Most instances in which batches of large oocytes became atretic seem to represent failing ovulation during the normal breeding season, presumably because the females for some reason did not reach

Locality	А	tretic o of in	ocytes, a	as percei cytes	nt			
	0	1-10	11-30	31-60	>60			
Vendsyssel	0	3	2	0	0			
Falster	4	3	5	3	1			
Lellinge	0	2	2	4	0			
Allinge	4	2	3	0	0			
Total	8	10	12	7	1			

Table 2. Atresia among large oocytes in ovaries of wild Danish female toads. a Figures indicate number of toads.

the spawning grounds (Knud-Erik Hede, personal communication). However, complete atresia of batches of large eggs may also occur at other times of the year. An exceptional example for Danish populations of *B*. *bufo* was provided by a sample of 12 sexually mature female toads freshly caught in Dyrehaven, north of Copenhagen. Six of the toads had ovaries with freshly atretic large oocytes. In 5 of these toads all large oocytes had become atretic, in one only part of the oocytes. The other 6 toads possessed normal ovaries devoid of fresh atresia among the large oocytes. The 6 toads with fresh atresia had all small fat bodies. The mean weight was 0.06% of the body weight, range 0.02-0.13%. Most toads with intact ovaries had substantial fat bodies, the mean weight was 0.81%, range 0.07 -1.56%. It is thus suggested that in this group of toads whole batches of large oocytes had become atretic because of starvation.

#### Oviduct cycle

The annual cycle in oviduct weight in sexually mature female toads from various Danish localities is shown in Fig. 4. It can be seen that the cycle closely follows that of the ovary weight. During ovulation and oviposition the weight of the oviducts becomes strongly reduced, presumably due to the emptying of the gland cells producing the egg jelly. The oviducts remain small until the end of July when they increase rapidly in weight concurrently with the rapid growth of the ovaries. The full grown oviducts approach 5-6% of the body weight. There was no clear change in oviduct weight prior to ovulation, as in the case of the ovarian weight (Fig. 4).

#### Testis cycle

#### Testis weight

The annual cycle in testis weight of freshly collected sexually mature males from the region north of Copenhagen is shown in Fig. 9. It can be seen that testis weight reaches a minimum after spawning,





Annual cycle in weight of testes, as percent of the body weight, in toads collected north of Copenhagen. Open circles indicate toads collected in the years 1963 – 1965, filled circles in the year 1966. Vertical lines indicate standard errors of the means and superscript figures numbers of toads in the groups. (1), Toads migrating to the breeding ground singly; (2), toads migrating in amplexus;, (3), toads collected in amplexus about 2 weeks previously.

presumably caused by spermiation (see below). Testis weight has increased again in the June samples and levels off during July-August. It is indicated that the testes undergo a second decrease in weight before reaching the weight at spawning. There was no difference in weight of testes from males migrating to the spawning grounds, singly or in amplexus (Fig. 9).

# Spermatogenesis, interstitial tissue, and thumbpads

The annual testicular cycle can be sub-divided into four main phases:

Phase I. The breeding period (April). All of eight toads collected during their migration singly to the spawning grounds, and of eight autopsied during amplexus, possessed testes in a similar histological and histochemical condition (summarized in Fig. 10). The lumina of the seminiferous tubules were filled with free spermatozoa (Fig. 11). Compact sperm bundles were comparatively few in number, and those that were present showed a loosening of the spermatozoa as they became released into the tubule lumen. Interspersed with this seminal mass



Fig. 10.

Spermatogenetic composition of the seminiferous tubules in *Bufo bufo* at different times of the year. For explanation of symbols see text, p. 6.

were detached Sertoli cells with a light scattering of sudanophilic droplets in the cell cytoplasm. Generally, however, there was very little intratubule lipid (Fig. 19).

The germinal epithelium showed little or no spermatogenetic activity. No mitotic figures could be detected in the residual primary spermatogonia, and only few small germinal cysts of secondary spermatogonia were present in some, but not all, of the sectioned tubules. In two of the amplectic males, many of the tubules had discharged their seminal content and were largely devoid of spermatozoa (Fig. 19). In none of the specimens were germinal cysts found in advance of spermatogonial stages.

Contrasting with the inactive germinal epithelium, the adjacent interstitial tissue was conspicuous and was obviously in a highly secretory condition. The cells were hypertrophied and possessed large, round nuclei with coarse clumped chromatin but no conspicuous nucleolus (Fig. 15). This has previously been described as a "secretory type" nucleus (Lofts, 1963). The interstitial cell cytoplasm contained a fine scattering of small, discrete lipid droplets (Fig. 19) which were negative to tests of cholesterol.

As might be expected with such an active interstitium, the thumbpads were maximally developed, with a thick epithelial layer whose outer surface was raised into sharp, keratinized spikes (Fig. 16). They were dark brown in colour.

This phase then, is marked by a period of low spermatogenetic activity, but intense spermiation resulting in the liberation of spermatozoa which become discharged over the eggs during oviposition. It is a period too, of high interstitial cell activity, and the high androgen levels maintain the androgendependent accessory sexual structures, such as the thumbpads, at the maximally developed level, and probably also stimulate the reproductive behavioural acitivites such as amplexus.

Phase II. The spermatogenetic period (May to July). Under natural conditions, there is generally an overlap between the previous period and the first few days of this period, as the amplectic phase dies out. All of the eight specimens autopsied in May had been caught in amplexus on 25th April and the pairs kept in a basin with water and sand until the males had left the females. These males were then killed and the testes removed and fixed on 9th May. The small testes (Fig. 9) contained regressed seminiferous tubules largely cleared of spermatozoa, although a residue of unevacuated seminal material remained in some tubules. The tubule lumina contained some germinal debris and detached Sertoli cells which appeared largely non-lipoidal, but which were seen to contain a few small lipoidal droplets when examined under high magnification. It is interesting to note that the heavily lipoidal and cholesterol-rich masses that occlude the lumen of the seminiferous tubules in Rana temporaria (Lofts et al., 1972) and R. esculenta (Lofts, 1964) in the immediate post-nuptial period, do not occur in this species.

Spermatogenesis had begun as some of the primary spermatogonia were seen to be undergoing

Plates I-III

-

## PLATE I

#### Figs. 11-14.

*Bufo bufo* testis material fixed in Bouin's fluid, wax embedded and stained with iron haematoxylin and orange G. X 300.

#### Fig. 11.

April. The seminiferous tubules contain large numbers of free spermatozoa in the tubule lumen, but only a few small spermatogonial cysts. The interstitium is hypertrophied and is in a highly secretory condition.

#### Fig. 12.

May. The spermatozoa have become largely discharged and the tubules are now becoming filled with a new generation of germinal cysts, which at this stage are mainly of secondary spermatogonia. The free spermatozoa in the lumen are the residue of the prevous generation. The interstitium is less conspicuous and non-secretory.

#### Fig. 13.

August. All stages of spermatogenesis can now be seen in the seminiferous tubules, and the more advanced stages are much more common. Some spermatids and young spermatozoa can be seen.

#### Fig. 14.

January. Most of the germinal cysts have now developed into spermatids and spermatozoa.





## PLATE II

#### Fig. 15.

Shows the large rounded nuclei in the hypertrophied interstitial tissue of an April toad. Bouin; Iron haematoxylin and orange G. X 500.

#### Fig. 16.

Sectioned thumbpad of April toad showing the spiked and keratinized surface. Bouin; Haematoxylin and eosin. X 150.

#### Fig. 17.

Shows the regressed interstitial cells with shrunken wrinkled nuclei, of a May toad. Bouin; Iron haematoxylin and orange G. X 500.

#### Fig. 18.

Sectioned thumbpad of May toad showing the regressed condition of the epithelium which has become smoother and nonkeratinized.



#### PLATE III

#### Figs. 19-22.

Testis material fixed in formal-saline, gelatine embedded and stained with Sudan Black B and carmalum.

#### Fig. 19.

April. Testis of a frog in amplexus in which most of the spermatozoa have become discharged. Detached Sertoli cells are accumulating in the lumen, but are not very sudanophilic. The interstitial cells contain a few small lipoidal droplets. X 500.

#### Fig. 20.

May. The regressed testis immediately after the breeding period showing the densely lipoidal interstitial cells. X 260.

#### Fig. 21.

August. The interstitial tissue is becoming less lipoidal at a time when spermatids and young spermatozoa are beginning to appear in the tubules. X 300.

#### Fig. 22.

February. The interstitial lipids have become depleted as the tissue becomes secretory and as the animal approaches the next breeding season. X 300.

0



.

mitosis. They were more numerous per cross sectioned tubule than during the first phase, as were also the secondary spermatogonial cysts. Germinal cysts were now more numerous and larger, and as the phase progressed the seminiferous tubules gradually became packed with developing cysts (Fig. 12). In the May sample these were almost exclusively spermatogonial cysts, but by the end of the phase, in July, primary spermatocytes were also represented but rarely spermatids (Fig. 10). There were occasional spermatozoa noted in isolated tubules of some of the June specimens, but these were old residual spermatozoa (Fig. 12) which were degenerating, and by July these had generally been cleared away.

Concomitant with the build-up of spermatogenetic activity, there was a regression of the interstitial tissue, whose cells became smaller and their nuclei shrunken and wrinkled in outline (Fig. 17). The cell cytoplasm became densely lipoidal (Fig. 20) and strongly cholesterol positive, indicating a rapid decline in androgen synthesis. This decline in sex hormone production was correlated with the rapid atrophy of the thumbpads. These structures sloughed off their keratinized layer and the epithelial zone become thinner and smooth (Fig. 18). In June animals they were light brown, but by the end of the phase they were colourless and almost completely absent.

Thus this phase is marked by a cessation of interstitial cell activity and a wave of spermatogenetic activity which results in the propagation of a new generation of germinal cysts packing the seminiferous tubules.

Phase III. The maturation period (August to January). There is an overlap between the beginning of this phase and the termination of the latter. Of the eight toads in the 8th August sample two were identical in testicular condition with the July sample of the previous phase, but in all the remainder the seminiferous tubules had reached a more advanced spermatogenetic condition. In addition to numerous spermatogonial and spermatocytic cysts, many specimens had developed some spermatids and even had isolated bundles of spermatozoa in some tubules (Fig. 10 and Fig. 13). Generally, however, the spermatogenetic activity was seen to decline during this period, and mitotic figures among the residual primary spermatogonia were no longer noticeable. Spermatogenesis probably did not cease altogether since at no stage was there a complete absence of small secondary spermatogonial cysts. However, their production was probably very slow and, more characteristically, the phase was characterized by a gradual maturation of the germinal cysts which had already been propagated during the highly spermatogenetically active period, and throughout the rest of the year spermatogonial and spermatocytic cysts became fewer as they matured into spermatids and, eventually, bundles of spermatozoa. By January the seminiferous tubules were found to contain numerous Sertoli cell-sperm bundle systems and spermatids, but only a few spermatogonia and primary and secondary spermatocytes (Fig. 14). This is the reverse of the situation noted at the start of the phase in August (Fig. 10).

The recovery of the interstitial tissue took place during this phase. In August the interstitial cells began to enlarge and the nuclei began to resume their "secretory type" structure, so that by September the interstitial tissue was once again well developed. This rehabilitation of the interstitium was accompanied by a depletion in the cytoplasmic lipid material (Fig. 21) and a decline in the intensity of the cholesterol reaction. The development of the interstitial tissue was paralleled by the development of the thumbpads, marked first by a thickening of the epithelium and then by the surface becoming papillate. By January the surface had become more spiky and had become keratinized, and the thumbpads appeared light brown.

This then is a phase marked by the decline of spermatogenesis concomitant with an acceleration of spermatohistogenesis resulting in numerous bundles of spermatozoa populating the tubules. It is also marked by a recrudescence of interstitial cell activity and elevated androgen secretion which stimulates the development of the thumbpads.

Phase IV. The spermiation period. Late hibernation. This phase could be regarded as the culmination of the preceding phase and leads up to the next breeding period. The eight toads examined in March showed an increasing acceleration of the spermatohistogenetic processes. Bundles of spermiating spermatozoa filled all the tubules, and freed spermatozoa were accumulating in the tubule lumina. Apart from primary spermatogonia, only small isolated cysts of secondary spermatogonia remained in the germinal epithelium and spermatocytic cysts had disappeared.

Interstitial cell activity was high, and this tissue had once again assumed the appearance noted in the previous April with hypertrophied cells depleted of most of their lipid (Fig. 22), and rounded enlarged nuclei. The thumbpads were dark brown and fully developed.

		Mean wei	ghts of fat	bodies as pe	ercent of b	ody weight			
Species	Locality	Sex	Max.	Month	Min.	Month	Size at spawning	Month	References
Bufo bufo	Denmark	0"	1.0	Aug	0.15	Jun	0.3	Apr	Present work
		Ŷ	ca l	Aug	~ 0	May	~ 0	Apr	
	Peking,	0*	2.3	Aug	0.05	May	0.08	Apr	Ting and
	China,	Q	3.5	Aug	0.02	Jun	0.04	Apr	Boring, 1940
Rana temporaria	Besançon	0*	1.4	Oct	0.11	Apr	0.11	Apr	von Kennel, 1913
	France	Q	ca 3	Oct-Nov	0.06	May	0.08	Apr	
	Bonn,	0*	0.5	Jun-Jul	~ 0	Apr	0.05	Mar	Zepp, 1923
	Germany	Q	0.7	Aug	0.03	May	0.2	Mar	
	Shropshire,	0* + Q	0.8-0.9	Jul-Oct	0.02	May	0.04	Mar	Smith, 1950
	U. K.								
	Cracow,	0*	1.0	Jul-Sep	0.02	Mar	0.02	Mar	Krawczyk, 1971
	Poland	Q	1.3	Jul	0.03	Mar	0.03	Mar	
	Haapavesi,	0*	0.7	Sep	ca 0.1	May	ca 0.1	May	Pasanen and
	N. Finland	Ŷ	0.4	Sep	0.03	May	0.03	May	Koskela 1974
Rana esculenta	Zürich,	0*	2.0	Sep	0.12	Jun	0.12	Jun	Gaule, 1901
	Switzerland	Q	1.3	Aug-Sep	0.03	Jul	0.04	Jun	
	Bonn,	0*	1.2	Sep	0.13	May	0.13	May	Zepp, 1923
	Germany	Q	0.9	Aug	0.10	May	0.10	May	
	Cracow,	0*	2.3	Sep	0.08	May	0.08	May	Krawczyk, 1974
	Poland	Q	1.7	Oct	0.03	May	0.03	May	
Rana pipiens	U.S.A.	O• + Ò	0.4	Aug	0.01	Jun	0.03	Apr	Mizell, 1965

Table 3. Annual cycle of fat body weight in some temperate zone anurans

# Discussion and Comparisons

#### Fat body cycle

In anurans the most conspicous site of fat storage is the fat bodies, but fat is also stored in other organs, especially in the liver and as carcass fat (Gaule, 1901; Athanasiu and Dragoin, 1910; Barthélémy, 1930; Smith, 1950; Mazzocco, 1938; Bush, 1963; Mazur, 1967; Brenner, 1969; Krawczyk, 1971, 1974; Seymour, 1973; Pasanen and Koskela, 1974; Byrne and White, 1975; Fitzpatrick, 1976). In contrast to these other storage sites, the fat bodies are primarily, and perhaps exclusively, depot organs. The size of the fat bodies is therefore a convenient indicator of the nutritional state of the organism. It is of special interest to note the periods of the annual cycle during which the fat bodies are largest or smallest. This maximum and minimum indicate the general change in the food balance of the organism from positive to negative and vice versa. In Danish toads the fat bodies tend to be largest during late summer or early autumn. It thus seems that most toads have entered negative food balance before the period of hibernation. The fat bodies usually reach minimum size in May-June, some time after spawning. Feeding in the post-spawning period thus seems insufficient to increase the fat depots even in the absence of vitellogenetic growth of oocytes in the females. It is not known to which extent motivation for feeding, food availability or other external or internal factors are limiting the food uptake. We only know that toads are rarely observed.

Reasonably complete data on annual cycles in fat body size are available for only a small number of anuran species (Table 3). Comparisons of the fat body cycles in these species, or in populations of the

,

same species from various regions of its geographical range of distribution, are made difficult owing to a general lack of information on the length of time that lapsed between capture and autopsy of the animals, or on storage conditions. The recorded fat body sizes may therefore not be representative of populations of wild toads. In one instance, the fat body sizes recorded are obviously substantially lower than they were in the freshly captured frogs, because of the treatment of the animals (*Rana pipiens*, Mizell, 1965).

Table 3 shows that the fat bodies generally reach their smallest size at or after the spawning period, when fat body sizes less than 0.1% of the body weight predominate. Fat bodies of this size are practically depleted of fat (Roca et al., 1970), and also the protein content of the fat bodies is being reduced (Victoroff, 1908). Other less complete studies on annual cycles in amphibian fat bodies support the view that the fat bodies in temperate zone anurans reach minimum size around the breeding time (Bufo arenarum, Argentine, Mazzocco, 1940a; Bufo fowleri, Georgia, U.S.A., Bush, 1963). These observations agree with the finding that anurans generally feed little or not at all until after breeding (Heusser, 1968b, 1969b; Itämies and Koskela, 1970; Jastrezebski, 1968; Juszczyk, 1950, Juszczyk et al., 1966; Koskela and Pasanen, 1974; Mizell, 1965; Victoroff, 1908).

It is widely believed that the fat bodies in amphibians reach their maximum size in autumn, and that the fat bodies serve as an energy depot primarily during hibernation (e. g. Brown, 1968; Holmes, 1916). However, as shown in Table 3, the most complete studies suggest that also in populations of *B*. *bufo* from China, as well as in other temperate zone anurans the fat bodies tend to reach their largest size well in advance of hibernation.

Only in the populations of *Rana temporaria* inhabiting the northernmost part of the range of distribution of this species the time of maximum fat body size coincides with the start of the hibernating period. This may be correlated with the short duration of the feeding period and early hibernation of the frogs at the high latitudes. Also the size reached by the fat bodies tends to be smaller in the frogs from northern Finland than in frog populations from other parts of Europe (Table 3).

Our data from *B. bufo* indicate that individual variation, local conditions, and annual variation strongly influence the size attained by the fat bodies. Similar variability has been recorded in other species. It was early noticed that in *Rana esculenta* fat body size varied greatly among individuals of the same population even when collected at the same time of the year (Victoroff, 1908). Regional or annual variation may be responsible for the different sizes recorded for the fat bodies in *Rana temporaria* in England. According to Smith (1950) maximum size in frogs collected in Shropshire amounted to

0.8-0.9% of the body weight, against 7-8% in frogs collected in Norwich (Morton and Rosen, 1949). Morton and Rosen also noticed that the fat body size varied with the climate, the fat bodies being especially large in a mild year. Also Kennel (1912) and Zepp (1923) assumed that differences in size of the fat bodies of *R. temporaria* and *R. esculenta* from one year to another reflected differences in feeding conditions, which again depended upon the

It thus seems that adult temperate zone anurans usually begin to draw upon their energy reserves already late in summer or early autumn, in advance of the hibernating period, not to enter the phase of accumulation of energy as fat until after completed breeding.

#### Ovary cycle

#### Resting period

climatic conditions.

After spawning in April the ovaries of the toad enter a period of quiescence before the next ovarian cycle is initiated by recruitment of a batch of small oocytes to the final growth phase. The resting period normally lasts 2-3 months. Occasionally, however, in Danish populations of toads the next

Table 4. Resting period between spawning and next ovarian cycle in some temperate zone anurans

Species	Locality	Month of spawning	Duration of resting period, months	References
Bufo bufo	Denmark	Apr	2-3	Present work
	Peking, China	Apr	2-3	Ting and Boring, 1940
Rana temporaria	France	Mar	3-4	Barthélémy, 1930; Gallien, 1940
	Germany	Mar	3-4	Bleibtreu, 1911; Zepp, 1923
	Poland	Mar	3-4	Krawczyk, 1971
	England	Mar	3-4	Smith, 1950
	N. Finland	May	0	Koskela and Pasanen, 1975
Rana arvalis	Poland	Apr	2-3	Jastrzębski, 1968
Rana esculenta	Switzerland	May-Jun	1-2	Gaule, 1901
	Poland	May	2	Juszczyk and Zamachowski, 1973
Rana pipiens	NE. U.S.A.	Apr	1-2	Zahl, 1937
	Wisc., U.S.A.	Apr-May	2-3	Mizell, 1964
Rana catesbeiana	Wash., U.S.A.	Jun-Jul	0	Byrne and White, 1975
Rana nigromaculata	Peking, China	Apr	3-4	Ting and Boring, 1940

ovarian cycle may be postponed until the following year (Hede and Jørgensen, 1978; Jørgensen, 1973a). According to Heusser (1968a), who studied a population of toads near Zürich, Switzerland, biennial breeding was the rule in these female *B. bufo*.

Resting periods before the start of the next ovarian cycle have been described in several other temperate zone anurans. It may be seen from the examples shown in Table 4 that early spawning is correlated with long resting periods. This correlation is especially striking in *Rana temporaria*. In southern Europe, where this species may breed in February, the resting period lasts about 4 months, whereas the period is practically absent in northern Finland, where spawning normally occurs in May.

Resting periods are most easily identified within populations of anurans that exhibits short, early spawning periods, such as B. bufo and R. temporaria. The data available on species with protracted and late spawning periods, such as Rana esculenta and Rana catesbeiana, are sometimes difficult to interpret in terms of presence and duration of resting periods. Thus, Byrne and White (1975) record ovarian weights for R. catesbeiana that decline gradually during the breeding period from late June to late July, followed by a slow increase in weight. However, the values recorded during the breeding period seem to include ovarian weights of both unspawned and spawned frogs. This way of presentation of the data may therefore conceal resting periods in individual frogs, especially in those that ovulated early in the breeding period. A similar argument applies to Gaule's (1901) data for R. esculenta. Also in this species mean ovarian weights decrease gradually during the long breeding period. However, recalculation of the tabulated raw data shows that the weights of spawned ovaries did not change significantly from the beginning of the breeding period in May, until August, after termination of breeding early in July. From August to September the ovarian weights increased abruptly. It is thus suggested that early spawners among the females tended to exhibit longer resting periods than late spawners.

The condition of ovarian quiescence that succeeds the breeding period may be interpreted as an adaptive feature in ovarian function of temperate zone anurans securing that rapid vitellogenetic growth of a new batch of oocytes is postponed until the energy reserves of the organism are restored. This interpretation is supported by the finding that if freshly spawned female toads are taken into the laboratory and fed well they mostly resume the next ovarian cycle with little delay (Jørgensen, 1973b).

As mentioned, in the toad B. bufo biennial breeding may occur as an alternative to initiation of the next ovarian cycle within the year of breeding. Little is known about the frequency of biennial breeding in temperate zone female anurans. Examples are, however, known on biennial breeding in female urodeles. Thus, Eagleson (1976) observed that Ambystoma gracile inhabiting lakes situated at altitudes of 100, 830 and 1200 m in British Columbia, Canada, varied in pattern of breeding. At the lowest altitude the females were annual breeders, exhibiting ovarian resting periods of 21/2 months' duration, whereas the females of the population inhabiting the lake at the highest altitude spawned biennially. A similar plasticity in ovarian cycles was observed in Pseudotriton mantanus, in South Carolina, which exhibited irregular cycles, annual or biennial (Bruce, 1975).

In *B. bufo*, and probably other anurans and urodeles, a mechanism that restricts the period of the year within which an ovarian cycle can be initiated seems to be an important factor in determining whether the next ovarian cycle follows within the year of spawning, or whether it is postponed until the following year. Thus, in *B. bufo* an ovarian cycle is normally not initiated later than July (Jørgensen, 1975).

## Ovary weight

The ovaries of female toads, *Bufo bufo*, as well as of other annually breeding anurans, attain maximum weight shortly before spawning. Ovulation drastically reduces ovarian weight, which reaches minimum values shortly after spawning. The max-

imum and minimum ovarian weights vary between species, between populations of the same species as well as among individuals within a population. Table 5 shows that mean maximum ovarian weights range from about 10 to 20% of the body weight in four Eurasian species of anurans. These values are comparable to values of weights of mature ovaries in other species (*Rana pipiens*, Minn., U.S.A., 14%, Ott, 1924; *Bufo fowleri*, Georgia, U.S.A., 25%, Bush, 1963; *Xenopus laevis*, Capetown, S. Africa, 11%, Zwarenstein and Shapiro, 1933, Shapiro and Shapiro, 1934; Transvaal, S. Africa, 15-40%, Kalk, 1960).

It seems that in Rana temporaria the mature ovaries mostly weigh less than in the other species listed in Table 5. Typical mean weights in populations from central Europe range from 11 to 14% of the body weight. In England mean weights of the mature ovaries of R. temporaria reach 15-17%, in northern Finland only 10-11%. It is thus indicated that the annual reproductive potential of a species, as expressed by the mass of the eggs produced, varies with the environmental conditions, presumably especially with the length of the feeding period. This interpretation is supported by the finding that, within Polish populations of R. temporaria

from varous localities, the mass of the spawn was lowest in the high altitude locality (Kozlowska, 1971).

It is noteworthy that the weight of the freshly ovulated ovaries varies substantially between species, from 1-2% in Rana temporaria and Rana arvalis to 4-5% in Rana esculenta. This variation results from differences in size and number of the small oocytes remaining in the ovary after ovulation. These oocytes reach sizes up to 1.3 mm in diameter in R. esculenta (Burkardt, 1912; Zepp, 1923), against only 0.8 mm in R. temporaria (Gaupp, 1904, Jørgensen, unpublished) and Bufo bufo (Jørgensen, 1973b). The lower weight of the ovaries in spawned R. temporaria as compared with B. bufo (Table 5) is correlated with smaller numbers of oocytes in the spawned ovaries of R. temporaria than in B. bufo (Jørgensen, unpublished).

Table 5 shows that in Danish populations of B. bufo and in R. esculenta the ovaries increase substantially in weight in the period between the beginning of hibernation and spawning, whereas less conspicuous increases have been observed in some populations of R. temporaria. Such increase in ovarian weight during or after hibernation has

		Mea as per	n weights of ov cent of body w	varies veight,	
Species	Locality	prior to spawning	after spawning	at hiber- nation	References
Bufo bufo	Denmark	19 ,	2.5	14	Present work
	Peking, China		1	20	Ting and Boring, 1940
Rana temporaria	France	13	1	13	Barthélémy, 1930
	Germany	11-14	1-2	11-14	Bleibtreu, 1910, 1911; Zepp, 1923
	Poland	12-13	1	11	Juszczyk, 1959; Krawczyk, 1971
	England	15-17	1	15	Smith, 1950
	N. Finland	10-11	1.9	10	Koskela and Pasanen, 1975
Rana arvalis	Poland	16	0.9	14	Jastrzębski, 1968
Rana esculenta	Switzerland	20	3.5	15	Gaule, 1901, recalculated
	Germany	17	5	12	Zepp, 1923
	Poland	18	4.5	12	Juszcyzyk and Zamachowski, 1973

Table 5. Annual cycle of ovary weight in some temperate zone anurans

often been interpreted as being due to continued vitellogenetic growth of oocytes (Zepp, 1923; March, 1937; Mazzocco, 1940; Miller and Robbins, 1954). However, verification of this interpretation requires the demonstration that the amount of organic matter increases in the ovaries. The question therefore arises whether the increased ovarian weights observed during or after hibernation in the species listed in Table 5, as well as in other species, represent true growth of oocytes or not.

Bufo bufo. There is good evidence that in B. bufo vitellogenetic growth of the oocytes has been completed before the onset of hibernation (Su and Yu-1963a; Jørgensen, 1973a). Presumably lan, vitellogenesis cannot proceed at the low temperatures of hibernation (Jørgensen et al., 1978b). It is noteworthy that the weight of the ovaries, expressed as a percentage of the body weight, remains constant during the period of hibernation, because during this period the body weight normally increases by up to 30% due to salt accumulation and expansion of especially the extracellular space (Jørgensen et al., 1978a). It therefore seems that the ovaries increase their fluid content at the same rate as the other parts of the body. The relative increase in ovarian weight that occurs shortly before ovulation presumably results from an extra increase in the fluid content of the ovaries.

Rana temporaria. March (1937) assumed that the ovaries of English frogs continued to grow during the hibernation period because the ratio ovary weight to weight of the other parts of the body increased from 0.16 (range 0.09-0.26) in October-November to 0.24 (range 0.18-0.33) in February-March. Smith (1950) observed that in a mild winter "hibernating" frogs ate throughout the winter, as judged from the consistent presence of water insects and larvae in the stomachs of the frogs. It therefore cannot be excluded that some vitellogenetic growth of oocytes may occur when frogs are not strictly hibernating. Krawczyk (1971), in a Polish population of R. temporaria, measured both wet weight and dry weight of the ovaries as a percentage of the body 23

dry weight of the ovaries during the first half of the hibernation period, from 4.8 to 5.4% of the body weight. It cannot be seen whether the increase is significant. There was no change in the dry weight percentage during the second half of the hibernation period, whereas the water content of the ovaries increased slightly, from 54.5% to 57.1%. Thus, convincing evidence is lacking for continued vitellogenetic growth of oocytes in truly hibernating R. temporaria. The moderate increases in relative weight of the ovaries that has been observed in many populations may therefore result from accumulation of fluid.

Rana esculenta. The ovarian weight remained constant during hibernation, at about 15% of the body weight in a Swiss population (Gaule, 1901) and at 12% in German and Polish populations (Zepp, 1923; Juszczyk and Zamachowski, 1973). No vitellogenetic growth of oocytes could therefore be demonstrated in the hibernating state. After hibernation there was a large, statisticially significant increase in the weight of the ovaries in all the three populations studied (Table 5). This posthibernation increase in ovarian weight was interpreted as being due to growth of oocytes taking place when feeding is resumed after the hibernation period (Zepp, 1923; Juszczyk and Zamachowski, 1973). In the Swiss population of frogs the fat bodies continued to decrease in size until after spawning, which is consistent with the view that even this latespawning species feeds little until after spawning (Victoroff, 1908; Juszczyk, 1950). It therefore remains uncertain to which extent the pre-spawning increase in ovarian weight in R. esculenta results form vitellogenetic growth of oocytes and to which extent it reflects accumulation of fluid (Milone et al., 1978).

In conclusion, there seems to be no significant vitellogenetic oocyte growth after the onset of hibernation in temperate zone anurans that hibernate at low temperatures. In these species the large oocytes have normally reached full size well in advance of the hibernation period. This is contrary to species that hibernate or become dormant at higher temperatures, e.g. species inhabiting xeric regions. In such species vitellogenesis may not be restricted to the period of feeding, but the large oocytes may continue to grow at the expense of energy reserves, including the fat bodies, during the non-feeding period of the year (*Xenopus laevis*, Capetown, S. Africa, Berk, 1938; *Bufo fowleri*, Georgia, U.S.A., Bush, 1963; *Scaphiopus* spp., Arizona, U.S.A., Seymour, 1973).

#### Size and number of eggs

Records of egg sizes in a great number of anurans show that most species produce eggs of sizes within the range from 1 to 2 mm in diameter (Ahl, 1930; Boulenger, 1897, 1920; Hempelmann, 1908; Morgan, 1904; Rugh, 1948; Terentjev, 1960). Few studies have been made to assess the variability in size or number of eggs within a species, or to elucidate controlling factors. Size and number of eggs in anuran species both exhibit geographic variation, and vary among individuals within the same population.

The geographic variation has especially been studied in Rana pipiens, in North America (Moore, 1949a,b, 1950) and in Rana temporaria, in Europe. In R. pipiens, Moore (1949a) noticed that within eastern USA-Canada mean values for egg size increased towards the north, and he ascribed an adaptive significance to this increase. However, studies of more populations of R. pipiens ranging from northern Canada to Panama, blurred the picture in showing no clear correlation between geographic distribution and egg size (Moore, 1950). It has been argued that the Rana pipiens complex consists of a number of species (Brown, 1973; Tucker, 1976). Moore's data on geographic variation in egg size of R. pipiens therefore need to be reconsidered in the light of the reevaluation of the systematics of the species.

In *Rana temporaria*, egg size tends to be large both in populations living at high latitudes (northern Finland, Koskela and Pasanen, 1975) and at high altitudes (Poland, Koslowska, 1971). Also in the frog *Pseudacris triseriata*, a population living at 5000 feet produced eggs of smaller mean diameter (0.80 mm) than did a population living at 9300 feet (1.15 mm). The difference in egg size is ascribed an adaptive significance, the larger eggs produced by the high altitude population facilitating more rapid development to metamorphosis (Pettus and Angleton, 1967).

It has been repeatedly noticed that the size may vary of eggs produced by females belonging to the same population (*Rana temporaria*, Chambers, 1908; Lieberkind, 1937; Juszczyk, 1959; Hönig, 1966; Koskela and Pasanen, 1975; *Rana esculenta*, Chambers 1908; *Rana sylvatica* and *Rana palustris*, Dickerson, 1931; *Rana pipiens*, McAlister, 1962; *Rana chalconota*, *Hing*, 1959-61). In many of these studies egg size was positively correlated with the body size of the female (Boulenger, 1897; Héron-Royer, 1883; Hönig, 1966; Koskela and Pasanen, 1975; McAlister, 1962; Pettus and Angleton, 1967).

In the present work, the mean size of full grown eggs in *B. bufo* females, sampled from various Danish localities, has been found to vary from about 1.4 mm to about 2.0 mm in diameter. The mean egg size was inversely correlated with numbers of eggs produced (Fig. 8), resulting in constant ovarian weights, as expressed per 100 g body weight. It thus seems that vitellogenetic growth of the ovaries is regulated to deposit a specific amount of yolk that may be partitioned between a larger number of small eggs or a smaller number of large eggs.

This type of relationship between size and number of eggs produced has also been found in *Rana temporaria*. Thus, within a Danish population of frogs the mean oocyte diameters (1.1 - 1.9 mm) varied inversely with the number of oocytes 9,000 - 2,500 per 100 g body weight (unpublished results).

The size of full grown eggs varies little in the ovaries of individual female toads and other anurans. The ultimate size varies, however, depending upon the conditions for vitellogenetic growth. Toads maintained at a high temperature in the fall grow larger eggs than do wild toads in which growth of the oocytes continues only until hibernation begins (Jørgensen et al., 1978b).

It is noteworthy that the variation observed in egg size among individuals belonging to the same population (R. temporaria), or to different populations within a small geographical range with uniform climatic conditions (*Bufo bufo*), are of the same magnitude as the differences that various authors have ascribed adaptive significances (Kozlowska, 1971; Koskela and Pasanen, 1975; Moore, 1949a; Pettus and Angleton, 1967; Salthe and Duellman, 1973; Salthe and Mecham, 1974).

The variations observed in size and number of eggs in Danish populations of *Bufo bufo* and *Rana temporaria* seem to be chance.

#### Atresia

Most observations on atresia in the ovaries of anurans and other amphibians have been made on large, gonadotropin-dependent oocytes. Thus it is well established that the follicles that do not ovulate during the normal breeding season become atretic (Bühler, 1903; Burkardt, 1912; Gatenby, 1916; Cheng, 1932; Rugh, 1951; Hedeen, 1972; Jørgensen, 1973b).

Atresia among large oocytes during an ovarian cycle seems not to be obligatory and thus to form part of the normal ovarian function. However, more or less extensive atresia has been described among the oocytes undergoing vitellogenetic growth or among full sized eggs during the pre-spawning period (Acris crepitans, Fisher and Richards, 1950; Bufo stomaticus, Guraya, 1969). Atresia among large oocytes during the normal ovarian cycle presumably often reflects adverse environmental conditions, among which lack of food is probabaly the most important (Burkardt, 1912; Ott, 1924; Alexander and Bellerby, 1938; Penhos, 1952). In the present work complete atresia of large oocytes in freshly collected toads, B. bufo, could be correlated with lack of energy reserves, i.e. reduced fat bodies.

Atresia of larger oocytes may be looked upon as an adaptive response to adverse nutritional conditions favouring survival of the toad at the expense of its reproductive capacity. The response seems generally to be of minor importance in Danish populations of *Bufo bufo*. In another bufonid, *Bufo viridis*, higher incidences of complete atresia of pools of large oocytes has been observed among females from certain localities (unpublished observations).

Starvation-induced atresia of large vitellogenetic oocytes has also been described in other vertebrate classes, including birds (Nalbandov, 1976, p. 146).

Only scattered observations are available on the occurrence of atresia among the small gonadotropin-independent oocytes. Small atretic oocytes are recorded in the ovaries of various species of anurans (Rana temporaria, Gatenby, 1916; Cheng, 1932; Bufo stomaticus, Guraya, 1969; Bufo bufo, Anne-Grete Byskov, personal communication). Little is known, however, about the incidence of atresia among small oocytes and the factors that control atresia. Presumably, atresia among the small oocytes may exhibit large individual variation (Jørgensen et al., 1978b).

#### Oocyte maturation and ovulation

It has long been recognized that the time of breeding of temperate zone anurans varies within their range of distribution (Héron-Royer, 1885). The different species tend to restrict the duration of the spawning season and to breed later the further to the north they live. Frogs and toads that breed only in spring in northern Europe may start breeding already in the fall in southern France. Héron-Royer stressed the importance of climate in determining the spawning time, and he ascribed the adaptability of the spawning season within the species to the faculty of the females to delay the spawning of their full grown eggs. Such delay may result from postponed maturation of the eggs or from delayed ovulation of mature eggs.

*Maturation* of the large follicles in the ovaries of temperate zone anurans, as in other amphibians, presumably implies that the follicles become more sensitive to the ovulatory effect of gonadotropin from the pituitary gland. It is therefore possible to

follow the progress in maturation of the follicles by testing the ovulatory response of the follicles towards exogenous gonadotropin. Tests of this type have shown that the amounts of homologous pituitary extracts needed to induce ovulation decrease during winter (Rostand, 1934; Houssay, 1947; Rugh, 1948). In the toad Bufo bufo, the amounts of human chorionic gonadotropin needed to induce ovulation of full grown follicles decreased with time in toads that were exposed to low, hibernating temperatures in the fall. Maximum sensitivity was reached after several months at low temperature (Jørgensen et al., 1978b). Su and Yu-lan (1963a, b) assume that in the subspecies Bufo b. asiaticus from the Shanghai district, China, exposure to the low temperatures of hibernation (about 2-3°C) is indispensable for maturation of the follicles. However, hibernation and ovarian maturation are not necessarily coupled processes, and their relationships may vary between species, as well as within the geographic range of distribution of one species. Some examples will demonstrate this.

In late breeders, follicles may not mature until after the hibernation period. Rostand (1934) made the interesting observation that during hibernation, in November, the early breeder, *Rana temporaria*, ovulated after injection of 2-4 pituitary glands, whereas the late breeder, *Rana esculenta*, showed no or incomplete ovulation even after injection of up to 12 pituitary glands. There was no difference in response between the two species to injection of homologous or heterologous glands.

Bufo b. bufo from Denmark provides an example on an early breeder that may breed spontaneously in the absence of the normal hibernation period (Jørgensen *et al.*, 1978b). Thus, amplexus, spawning and development of tadpoles was observed in a group of toads that remained active and feeding during the winter at temperatures that did not fall below  $13^{\circ}$ C. It is noteworthy that the breeding behavior was initiated only a few weeks before breeding in nature.

It thus seems that the time course of maturation of the large follicles in temperate zone anurans varies both between species and, within a species, with the geographic location of the populations. Hibernation and local variations in temperature and other climatic factors may act as modulators of a largely endogenously determined time course of the maturation processes of the large follicles.

*Ovulation*. At ovulation of the large follicles the eggs are released into the body cavity and transferred by ciliary tracts into the oviducts. An extensive literature deals with the ovulatory mechanisms and their endocrine control in various amphibians. This literature shall not be reviewed, but reference is made to some recent papers on ovulatory mechanisms and hormonal regulation (Anderson and Yatvin, 1970; Snyder and Schuetz, 1973; Thibier-Fouchet *et al.*, 1976; Thornton and Evennett, 1973; Wasserman and Masui, 1976).

Several ovulatory and spawning types may be distinguished among anurans. In some species ovulation is induced by mating (amplexus), whereas other species may ovulate independently of amplexus, and ovulation has often taken place before pairing of the sexes (Spallanzani, 1786).

Amplexus induced mating has been described in *Scaphiopus* spp. According to Bragg (1965), spadefoots and other species from xeric regions ovulate in response to amplexus. Anurans from xeric regions are typically opportunistic breeders that spawn at irregular intervals when rainfalls have made temporary pools of water available for spawning and development of tadpoles.

In temperate zone anurans from mesic regions amplexus independent ovulation may turn out to be the rule, contrary to common beliefs (Bragg, 1941; Heusser, 1963). Ovulation in the absence of males was recorded already by Héron-Royer (1883) in species of Hyla, Rana, Discoglossus and Bombinator. "Spontaneous" ovulation was later rediscovered e.g. in Microhyla carolinensis (Anderson, 1954), Hyla crucifer (Oplinger, 1966), and Bufo bufo (Heusser, 1963).

Amplexus-induced and amplexus-independent ovulation in anurans may be compared with reflex ovulation and spontaneous ovulation in mammals. The comparison may, however, be misleading because at least in some anurans that ovulate independently of amplexus, other external stimuli may serve to trigger the ovulatory reflex. Thus, in the toad Bufo bufo, Heusser (1963) found that females sampled singly on their way to the breeding ponds, when placed in buckets of water would spawn simultaneously with pairs in amplexus in nature. Presumably, contact with water acted as a stimulus to induce ovulation. Also light seemed important, because darkness reduced spawning in isolated females in water to about 50% (Heusser, 1968c). Heusser, however, also observed that amplexus might serve as an auxilliary stimulus to ovulation. In Hyla crucifer, Oplinger (1966) speculates that the call of the males from the spawning grounds or climatological factors as rain may act as external stimuli to induce ovulation in the mature females.

In Rana temporaria, ovulation is correlated with an activity pattern that is remarkably independent of external factors, as observed in Poland (Juszczyk, 1959; Juszczyk and Zamachowski, 1965) and Finland (Koskela and Pasanen, 1975). Frogs emerge from the wintering quarters in the mud at the bottom of lakes or springs, and copulate and ovulate before any change in temperature of the water. Ovulation also occurs in frogs maintained at constant low temperature in a refrigerator. It has therefore been assumed that termination of hibernation and ovulation is governed by an internal rhythm that is adapted to the latitude and the altitude at which the populations of the species live (Juszczyk and Zamachowski, 1965; Koskela and Pasanen, 1975). These observations seem, however, to have been made on groups of frogs that included both sexes. They are therefore not conclusive concerning the role amplexus may play in inducing ovulation in R. temporaria.

Anurans may also be grouped according to the relationship between ovulation and oviposition. One group includes anurans in which oviposition is coupled with ovulation, so that ovulation and transfer of eggs to the oviducts automatically results in oviposition of the eggs. In the other group of anurans ovulation and oviposition are independent processes. In species belonging to this group the ovulated eggs accumulate in a specialized section of the oviduct, the uterus, from which they are later expelled in clumps.

Examples of anuran genera in which ovulation and oviposition are coupled processes are *Xenopus* (Waring *et al.*, 1941) and *Bufo* (Heusser, 1963), exaples of genera that store the ovulated eggs in an uterus are *Hyla* (Oplinger, 1966) and *Rana* (Waring *et al.*, 1941). In the latter type the question arises as to the importance of amplexus. Both *Hyla* and *Rana* have been observed to be able to deposit eggs in the absence of the males (Spallanzani, 1786; Héron-Royer, 1883; Oplinger, 1966). However, the observations seem not finally to have elucidated the role of the male in oviposition in these and other anuran species.

#### Control mechanisms

As mentioned, *B. bufo*, and other temperate zone anurans, typically exhibit one annual ovarian cycle, with a resting period interspaced between successive cycles. In interpreting normal ovarian function in terms of control mechanisms two states may therefore be distinguished, the ovarian cycle proper, including vitellogenetic growth, maturation and ovulation of follicles, and the resting period.

Vitellogenetic growth of oocytes depends upon secretion of gonadotropin at levels that require central nervous stimulation (van Dongen *et al.*, 1966; Dierickx, 1966; Jørgensen, 1970; Vijayakumar *et al.*, 1971). The start of the next ovarian cycle after spawning thus depends upon the secretion of gonadotropin at high levels and upon the presence in the ovaries of oocytes that can respond to gonadotropin by entering the final vitellogenetic growth phase. Oocytes can respond to gonadotropin only when the follicles have reached a certain stage in their development (Billeter and Jørgensen, 1976). The ovaries of sexually mature toads, however, seem always to contain a larger number of gonadotropin sensitive oocytes than is normally recruited to

vitellogenetic growth during the annual ovarian cycle (Vijayakumar et al., 1971). The ovaries of freshly spawned toads show a normal vitellogenetic response to exogenous gonadotropin (human chorionic gonadotropin) (Jørgensen, 1973b). Moreover, the response is little influenced by the nutritional condition of the toads, whether they are starved or well fed (unpublished results). It can therefore be concluded that in the toad the start of the next ovarian cycle after breeding results from increased secretion of gonadotropin from the pituitary gland under central nervous stimulation.

The question then arises which factors influence the secretion of gonadotropin. Probably the nutritional state of the organism is a primary factor. After spawning the organism is depleted of energy reserves, and it seems that the next ovarian cycle is postponed until an appropriate nutritional state has been reestablished, as judged e.g. from the increase in size of the fat bodies. The importance of the nutritional state is supported by the finding that toads taken into the laboratory immediately after spawning and fed will usually start a new ovarian cycle with little delay (Jørgensen, 1973b; Jørgensen *et al.*, 1978b).

Often the ovaries of adult-sized toads lack large vitellogenetic oocytes in the fall, even when the toads are in a good nutritional condition when caught. This lack of large oocytes appears to be centrally determined, because the ovaries show a normal vitellogenetic response to exogenous gonadotropin (Jørgensen, 1975). Presumably, a mechanism exists which prevents activation of gonadotropin secretion too late in the season for the oocytes to complete growth before hibernation. The mechanism may result in biennial breeding in toads that remain in a bad nutritional condition too long after breeding. The mechanism may also postpone an ovarian cycle until the following year in young toads that reach adult size late in summer or in the fall.

Completion of vitellogenetic growth and maintenance of full grown oocytes depend upon gonadotropin secretion remaining high. Starvation can lead to atresia of the large oocytes, probably due to reduced gonadotropin secretion. This is indicated by the finding that atresia can be prevented by treating starving *B. bufo* females with gonadotropin in the same doses as are needed to stimulate normal vitellogenesis (unpublished data).

Ovulation, which terminates an ovarian cycle, presumably requires an ovulatory surge of gonadotropin secretion, as has been demonstrated in other classes of gnathostomes. This assumption is supported by the finding that ovulation of mature follicles in the toad, as in other anurans, requires a much higher dosage of gonadotropin than needed to stimulate vitellogenetic growth and survival of oocytes (Kjær and Jørgensen, 1971; Jørgensen *et al.*, 1978b).

Breeding in temperate zone anurans typically results in the ovaries entering a resting period. As mentioned, the ovaries of spawned toads contain numerous oocytes capable of responding to gonadotropin when this is being secreted from the pituitary gland at a high rate. As gonadotropin secretion presumably is high up to and during spawning, it is indicated that breeding normally causes a fall in gonadotropin secretion which lasts until the environmental, and especially nutritional, conditions are favourable for the reactivation of gonadotropin secretion.

#### Oviduct cycle

In the annual reproductive cycle of the toad, and other amphibians, the growth of the oviduct is closely correlated with the growth of the ovaries. Presumably, the rate of growth of the oviducts is determined by the rate of secretion of an ovarian factor, because reduction in ovarian mass by subtotal ovariectomy in toads decreased the rate of oviduct growth (Jørgensen and Vijayakumar, 1970). Estrogens have been found capable of stimulating growth of oviducts in amphibians generally (for references, see Lee, 1965). In *B. bufo*, estradiol-17 $\beta$  stimulated oviduct growth when administered in a physiological dosage (Jørgensen and Vijayakumar, 1970).

From Table 6 it may be seen that the ratio

		Ovid	uct weight as pero and oviduct to	cent of body ovary ratio:	weight	
Species	Locality	During	hibernation	Prior to	spawning	References
		%	Ratio	%	Ratio	
Bufo bufo	Denmark	6	0.4	6	0.3	Present work
	Peking, China	5	0.2			Ting and Boring, 1940
Rana temporaria	Germany			17	1.2	Zepp, 1923
	Poland	18		19		Juszczyk et al., 1972
		17	1.4	17	1.4	Juszczyk, 1959
	Finland	17	1.6	20	1.9	Koskela and Pasanen, 1975
Rana arvalis	Poland	10	0.7	13	0.8	Jastrezebski, 1968
Rana esculenta	Germany			5	0.4	Zepp, 1923
Rana catesbeiana	Wash., U.S.A.			ca. 7	1	Burne and White, 1975
Rana nigromaculata	Peking, China		0.3		0.4	Ting and Boring, 1940

oviduct weight to ovary weight is several times higher in *Rana temporaria* than in *R. esculenta* or *B. bufo*. The weight of the oviducts is mainly determined by the amount of secretory granules accumulated in the gland cells, i e. the amount of precursor material for the secretion of jelly that coates the ovulated eggs passing the oviducts. Already Zepp (1923) noticed that the relative size of the oviducts was correlated with the thickness of the jelly coat of the eggs, the oviducts being larger in *R. temporaria*, which produce thick coats of jelly, than in *R. esculenta*, whose eggs have thinner jelly coats.

### Testis and thumbpad cycles

#### Testis weight and spermatogenesis

In the male toads the gonads did not exhibit a resting period after spawning, as did the ovaries in the females. The testes of toads collected in June had increased in weight, and spermatogenesis was in full progress. Also in French (Rey, 1939b) and German (Obert, 1971) populations of *B. bufo*, increased spermatogenesis has been observed immediately after spawning. A post-spawning gonadal resting period may be absent also in the males of other temperate zone amphibians, even in such species whose females may be biennial breeders. According to Bruce (1975) the absence of a gonadal resting period in the males is related to the lower reproduc-

tive costs in males than in females. However, the males of some temperate zone anurans do have resting periods comparable to those of the females. The best studied example is *Rana temporaria*, in which males as well as females exhibit gonadal resting periods, in central Europe and England lasting 2-3 months (Ploetz, 1890; Zepp, 1923; Smith, 1950; van Oordt, 1956; Lofts *et al.*, 1972).

The amplitude of annual cycles in testis weight seems to be correlated with the absence or presence of a resting period. Thus, in most temperate zone anurans the testes show only moderate annual variations in weight. Some examples are listed in Table 7. The testes weights tend to be lowest after spawning, but often a definite annual cycle in weight is lacking. In all instances the species belonging to this type have potentially continuous spermatogenetic cycles (van Oordt, 1960). Spermatogenesis in wild animals proceeds throughout the greater part of the year and may take place even during hibernation, the rate of spermatogenesis primarily being determined by the temperature and other environmental factors. In Rana temporaria, on the contrary, spermatogenesis is discontinuous, depending on an internal rhythm (van Oordt, 1960). When spermatogenesis is resumed after the resting period it proceeds at a high rate for a restricted period during which the testes may increase 10-30 times in weight (Table 7). Lofts et al., (1972) found the dry weights

		Me	ean weight	s of testes as	s percent of	body weig	ht		
Species	Locality	Maximum weight	Month	Minimum weight	Month	Ratio max. to min.	Weight prior to spawning	Month	References
Bufo bufo	Denmark Peking, China	0.5 0.4	Jul-Aug Aug	0.25 0.17	May Apr-May	2.0 2.4	0.4	Apr	Present work Ting and Boring, 1940
Rana temporaria	Germany	3.5	Aug	0.25	Apr-Jun	14	0.9	Mar	Zepp, 1923
	Poland	1.6	Sep	0.18	May	9	0.9	Mar	Krawczyk, 1971
	Holland	2.2	Aug	0.16	May	14	0.8	Mar	van Oordt, 1956
		4.1	Aug	0.14	Jun	29	0.9	Mar	Lofts et al., 1972
	England	6.0	Aug	0.3	Jun	20	1.2	Mar	Smith, 1950
R. esculenta	Switzerland	0.35	Aug	0.21	Jun	1.7	0.25	May	Gaule, 1901
	Germany	0.43	Jul	0.19	May	2.3	0.20	May	Zepp, 1923
	Holland	0.27	Aug	0.14	Jan	1.9	0.25	May	Lofts, 1964
R. pipiens	Wisc., U.S.A.	0.32	Oct	0.09	May	3.6	0.11	Mar	Mizell, 1964
R. nigromaculata	Peking, China	0.16	Sep	0.07	Jun-Jul	2.3	0.13	Apr	Ting and Boring, 1940

Table 7. Annual cycle of testes weight in some temperate zone anurans

of the testes to increase about 20 times from the minimum value in June to the maximum value in August-September. During the subsequent months testes weights decreased again. Ploetz (1890) showed that the cycle in weight changes can be correlated with stages in spermatogenesis. Cell proliferation predominates from June to August, followed by a cell differentiation when testis mass is again reduced.

The striking differences observed between *R*. esculenta and *R*. temporaria in the annual cycles of testis weight and spermatogenesis have been correlated with their geographic range of distribution. *R*. esculenta is a southern species that, when living in the Mediterranean region, may remain active throughout the year also with respect to spermatogenesis. *R*. temporaria is a northern species that has become adapted to climates that restrict the duration of annual periods of activity, including spermatogenesis (Ploetz, 1890; Zepp, 1923).

#### Tubular histochemical cycle

It is of interest to note that in *Bufo bufo bufo*, after spermiation, the detached Sertoli cells which accumulated in the tubule lumen did not become intensely sudanophilic and cholesterol positive, as had been noted in R. temporaria (Lofts and Boswell, 1960) and, to a lesser extent, in R. esculenta (Lofts, 1964). In these latter two species the seminiferous elements become densely lipoidal as the tubule lumina become occluded with spent, heavily sudanophilic Sertoli cells. In R. temporaria the tubules remain in this condition for some weeks, and then the lipids and cholesterol disappear with the resumption of spermatogenetic activity. This intra-tubule lipid material mainly consists of cholesterol esters (Lofts et al., 1972) which are rapidly utilized once spermatogenesis begins. In Bufo, in which the spermatogenetic wave begins immediately after breeding, and some low level of activity also continues in winter months, it is possible that an immediate large demand after the breeding season, and a continuing demand at fairly low tonic levels throughout the remainder of the year, prevents the accumulation of these cholesterol esters in any significant amounts. This is in contrast to R. temporaria, in which species the postponement of the next spermatogenetic wave for several weeks after breeding is correlated with the development of heavily sudanophilic tubules.

#### 22:5

#### Thumbpads and interstitial tissue cycles

The tumbpads of temperate zone anurans undergo pronounced annual developmental cycles. In early breeders, the thumbpads usually reach maximum development before hibernation, e.g. *B. bufo* (Heusser, 1969) and *R. temporaria* (Lofts *et al.*, 1972). In late breeders the thumbpads start developing prior to hibernation to resume growth and differentiation of papillae and cornification after emergence, prior to breeding, e.g. *R. esculenta* (Lofts, 1964; de Kort, 1971).

It is now well established that this annual cycle in development of the tumbpads is closely correlated with the cycle in development and functional state of the interstitial tissue (Lofts and Boswell, 1960; Lofts, 1964; de Kort, 1971; Obert, 1973). This correlation could also be demonstrated in the toad, which showed a seasonal waxing and waning of cholesterol and lipids in the interstitial tissue similar to that noted in other seasonally breeding vertebrates (Lofts, 1968). The cholesterol and lipid cycle is indicative of the steroid secretory activity of this tissue (see reviews by Lofts and Bern, 1972; Lofts, 1974). The rapid accumulation of dense sudanophilic masses of cholesterol rich substances immediately after the breeding period is probably due to build-up of precursor material as a consequence of the cessation of androgen production, and conversely, its rapid depletion later in the year marks a resumption of secretory activity with rapid utilization of these cytoplasmic lipids and sterols. In R. temporaria and R. esculenta the interstitial cells show loss of 3\beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase activity as the cells enter this postnuptial sudanophilic stage (Lofts, 1974), and in some reptiles at least this phenomenon is also associated with a decline in testicular in vitro testosterone production (Lofts, 1969; Tam et al., 1969).

A recovery of interstitial cell activity in *B. bufo* in late August is similar to the cyclic events in *R. temporaria* (Lofts and Boswell, 1960; Lofts *et al.*, 1972) and *R. esculenta* (Lofts, 1964).

It is close at hand to suggest that it is the seasonal cycle in secretion of androgen that controls the thumbpad cycle in *B. bufo* and in other anurans. This suggestion is supported by the finding that castration causes thumbpad regression that can be reverted by treatment with testosterone (*Bufo arenarum*, Burgos, 1950; *B. bufo*, Müller *et al.*, 1977; *R. esculenta*, Botte *et al.*, 1972; *Bombina variegata*, Obert, 1975).

The development of the thumbpad in anurans may be controlled by other factors than testosterone, e.g. other androgens secreted by the testis. *Rana pipiens* testes secrete androstendione besides testosterone (Kirby, 1970). Moreover, the mechanism of control may vary between species. Thus, Guyénot *et al.*, (1932) observed that implanted pituitaries restored the thumbpads in castrated males of *Bombinator pachypus*, but not of *B. bufo*.

Non-hormonal factors may be of importance for thumbpad development, especially the nutritional state (Heusser, 1969; own unpublished observations).

Relationships between fat bodies and gonads

A functional relationship has been suspected to exist between the fat bodies and the gonads in amphibians ever since it was observed in the last century that the fat bodies tended to be small when the gonads mature and large in immature individuals (Duvernoy, 1844; Wiedersheim, 1886; Giglio-Tos, 1896). The nature of the relationship between fat bodies and gonads, however, still remains unsettled (Bargmann and von Hehn, 1969).

The inverse relationship between size of the fat bodies and size and development of ovaries and testes is well documented in a large number of amphibians from the temperate regions. Some recent examples are the anurans *Bufo* bufo (present work), B. arenarum (Allende and Orias, 1955), Rana esculenta (Roca et al., 1970), R. clamitans and Acris crepitans (Brenner, 1969), Hyla crucifer (Oplinger, 1966), and the urodeles Ambystoma tigrinum (Rose and Lewis. 1968)and Desmognathus ochrophaeus (Fitzpatrick, 1973).

It has often been suggested that the fat bodies play a direct nutritional role for the vitellogenetic growth of oocytes in the ovaries and for spermatogenesis in the testes (Mazzocco, 1940a; Allende and Orias, 1955; Oplinger, 1966; Rose and Lewis, 1968; Lewis and Rose, 1969; Brenner, 1969; Fitzpatrick, 1973). It has also been suggested that the fat bodies produce specific substances, hormones, that maintain normal gonadal function (Rose, 1967; Roca *et al.*, 1970; Chieffi *et al.*, 1975).

Several attempts have been made to assess the role of the fat bodies by ablation of the organs, but the results have been varying. Some authors observed no effects of extirpation of the fat bodies. Thus, in *Triton* sp., Aron (1924) found no effects on the secondary sex characters of the males. In *Rana* sp., Kennel (1912) observed that frogs of both sexes operated in autumn went into amplexus the following spring. The ovaries contained normal eggs and the testes normal spermatozoa. Also *Bufo bufo* males with completely extirpated fat bodies exhibited normal annual sexual cycles with respect to thumbpad development and amplexus (Ponse, 1924).

Later authors observed effects of fat body extirpation. Thus, in the urodeles *Triturus viridescens* (Adams and Rae, 1929) and *Amphiuma means* (Rose, 1967) ablation of the fat bodies resulted in degeneration of the gametes. Adams and Rae (1929) made the interesting observation that unilateral elimination of a fat body resulted in degeneration of gametogenesis in the ipsilateral gonad without affecting the function of the contralateral gonad. Recently, Chieffi *et al.* (1975) obtained similar results in male frogs, *Rana esculenta*. They, moreover, found that treatment of the operated frogs with extracts of fat bodies maintained spermatogenesis and prevented degeneration of spermatogenetic cysts.

We have made a comparable experiment in female toads, *Bufo bufo*, in which the fat body was unilaterally extirpated early in the final growth phase of the oocytes. Complete elimination of the fat body did not affect the ipsilateral ovary. Oocyte growth proceeded normally and could not be distinguished form oocyte growth in the contralateral ovary (unpublished data). It is thus indicated that in the toad ovarian function does not depend upon the ipsilateral fat body.

The inverse relationship observed between fat body size and ovarian maturation in toads may not reflect a direct functional relationship between the two organs, but may result from competition for energy obtained with the food. Ovary and fat body both deposit energy during the period of the year when the toad is active and feeding. Deposition is in the form of yolk in the ovary and of fat in the fat body. It may therefore be postulated that vitellogenetic growth has highest priority and that less energy becomes available for deposition in the fat bodies of female toads that are developing large oocytes than in toads that are not.

# References

- Adams, A. E., and E. E. Rae, 1929: An experimental study of the fatbodies in *Triturus (Diemyctylus) viridescens*. Anat. Rec., 41: 181-204.
- Ahl, E., 1930: Amphibia. Tab. Biol. VI (Supp. 2): 598-624.
- Alexander, S. S., and C. W. Bellerby, 1938: Experimental studies on the sexual cycle of the South African clawed toad (*Xenopus laevis*) I. J. exp. Biol., 15: 74-81.
- Allende, I. L. C. de, and O. Orias, 1955: Hypophysis and ovulation in the toad *Bufo arenarum* (Hensel). Acta Phys. Latinamer., 5: 57-84.
- Anderson, J. W., and M. B. Yatvin, 1970: Metabolic and ultrastructural changes in the frog ovarian follicle in response to pituitary stimulation. J. Cell Biol., 46: 491-504.
- Anderson, P. K., 1954: Studies in the ecology of the narrowmouthed toad, *Microhyla carolinensis carolinensis*. Tulane Studies Zool., 2: 15-46.
- Aron, M., 1924: Recherches morphologiques et expérimentales sur le déterminisme des caractères sexuels mâles chez les Urodèles. Arch. Biol., 34: 1-166.
- Athanasiu, J., and J. Dragoin, 1910: Die Wanderung des Fettes im Froschkörper im Verhältnis zur Jahreszeit. Arch. ges. Physiol., 132: 296-306.
- Bargmann, W., and G. von Hehn, 1969: Über epithelio-retikuläre Fettorgane. Untersuchungen am Gonadenfettkörper von Amphibien. Z. Zellforsch., 94: 1-18.
- Barthélémy, H., 1930: Contribution à l'étude de l'Hibernation et de la Maturation des oeufs de la grenouille rousse (Rana fusca). Les Edit. Univ. Strasbourg.
- Berk, L., 1938: Studies in the reproduction of X. laevis. 1. The relation of external environmental factors to the sexual cycle. S. Afr. J. Med. Sci., 3: 72-77.
- Billeter, E., and C. B. Jørgensen, 1976: Ovarian development in young toads, Bufo bufo bufo (L.): Effects of unilateral ovariectomy, hypophysectomy, treatment with gonadotropin (hCG), growth hormone, and prolactin, and importance of body growth. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 29: 531-544.
- Bleibtreu, M., 1910: Glykogen im Froscheierstock. Pflüger's Arch., 132: 580-599.
- Bleibtreu, M., 1911: Weitere Untersuchungen über das Verhalten des Glykogens im Eierstock der Rana fusca. Pflüger's Arch., 141: 328-342.
- Botte, V., M. d'Istria, G. Delrio, and G. Chieffi, 1972: Hor-

monal regulation of thumb pads in males of *Rana esculenta*. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 18, 577 (abstr.).

- Boulenger, G. A., 1897: The Tailless Batrachians of Europe, Parts I and II. The Ray Society, London.
- Boulenger, G. A., 1920: A Monograph of the South Asian, Papuan, Melanesian and Australian Frogs of the Genus Rana. Rec. of the Indian Museum, 20: 1-226.
- Bragg, A. N., 1941: Observations on the ecology and natural history of anura. 8. Some factors in the initiation of the breeding season. Turtox News, 19: 10-12.
- Bragg, A. N., 1965: Gnomes of the Night. University of Pennsylvania Press, Philadelphia.
- Brenner, F. J., 1969: The role of temperature and fat deposition in hibernation and reproduction in two species of frogs. Herpetologica, 25: 105-113.
- Brown, G. W., Jr., 1968: The metabolism of Amphibia. Pages 1-98 in "The Physiology of the Amphibia" (John A. Moore, ed.). Academic Press, New York, 1968.
- Brown, L. E., 1973: Speciation in the Rana pipiens complex. Amer. Zool., 13: 73-79.
- Bruce, R. C., 1975: Reproductive biology of the mud, salamander, *Pseudotriton montanus*, in western South Carolina. Copeia 1975: 129-137.
- Bühler, A., 1903: Rückbildung der Eifollikel bei Wirbelthieren. II. Amphibien. Morph. Jahrb., 31: 85-103.
- Burgos, M. H., 1950: Regulacion hormonal de los caracteres sexuales secundarios en el sapo macho. Rev. Soc. Argent. Biol., 26: 359-371.
- Burkardt, L., 1912: Über die Rückbildung der Eier gefütterter aber unbegatteter Weibchen von Rana esculenta. Arch. mikr. Anat., 79, Abt. 2: 1-40.
- Bush, F. M., 1963: Effects of light and temperature on the gross composition of the toad, *Bufo fowleri*. J. exp. Zool., 153: 1-13.
- Byrne, J. J., and R. J. White, 1975: Cyclic changes in liver and muscle glycogen, tissue lipid and blood glucose in a naturally occurring population of *Rana catesbeiana*. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 50A: 709-715.
- Chambers, R., 1908: Einfluss der Eigrösse und der Temperatur auf das Wachstum und die Grösse des Frosches und dessen Zellen. Arch. mikr. Anat., 72: 607-661.
- Cheng, T. H., 1932: The germ cell history of *Rana cantabrigensis* Baird II. Z. Zellforsch., 16: 542.

- Chieffi, G., R. K. Rastogi, L. Iela, and M. Milone, 1975: The function of fat bodies in relation to the hypothalamohypophyseal-gonadal axis in the frog, *Rana esculenta*. Cell Tiss. Res., 161: 157-165.
- Dickerson, M. C., 1931: The Frog Book. North American Toads and Frogs with a Study of the Habits and Life Histories of those of the Northeastern States. Doubleday, Page & Company, New York.
- Dierickx, K., 1966: Experimental identification of a hypothalamic gonadotropic centre. Z. Zellforsch. Mikrosk. Anat., 74: 53-79.
- Van Dongen, W. J., C. B. Jørgensen, L. O. Larsen, P. Rosenkilde, B. Lofts and P. G. W. J. van Oordt, 1966: Function and cytology of the normal and autotransplanted pars distalis of the hypophysis in the toad *Bufo bufo bufo* (L). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 6: 491-518.
- Duvernoy, G. L., 1844: Sur l'appareil de la génération chez les mâles, plus particulièrement, et chez les femelles des Salamandres et des Tritons. C. R. Acad. Sci., 19: 585-600.
- Eagleson, G. W., 1976: A comparison of the life histories and growth patterns of populations of the salamander Ambystoma gracile (Baird) from permanent low-altitude and mountain lakes. Can. J. Zool., 54: 2098-2111.
- Fisher, H. T., and A. Richards, 1950: The annual ovarian cycle of *Acris crepitans* Baird. Pages 129-142 in "Research on the Amphibia of Oklahoma" (A. N. Bragg, ed.). University of Oklahoma Press, Norman.
- Fitzpatrick, L. C., 1976: Life history patterns of storage and utilization of lipids for energy in amphibians. Amer. Zool., 16: 725-732.
- Gallien, L., 1940: Recherches sur la physiologie hypophysaire dans ces relations avec les gonades et le cycle sexuel, chez la grenouille rousse, *Rana temporaria* L. Bull. Biol. France et Belg., 74: 1-42.
- Gatenby, J. B., 1916: The transition of peritoneal ephithelial cells into germ cells in some Amphibia Anura, especially in *Rana temporaria*. Quart. J. micr. Sci., 61: 275.
- Gaule, J., 1901: Die Veränderungen des Froschorganismus (R. esculenta) während des Jahres. Arch. ges. Physiol., 87: 473-537.
- Gaupp, E., 1904: A. Ecker's und R. Wiedersheim's Anatomie des Frosches I-III. 2. Auflage, Braunschweig.
- Giglio-Tos, E., 1896: Sur les corps gras des Amphibies. Arch. Ital. Biol., 25, 98-100.
- Guraya, S. S., 1969: Histochemical study of follicular atresia in the amphibian ovary. Acta Biol. Acad. Sci. Hung., 20: 43-56.
- Guyénot, A., A. Moskowska, and K. Ponse, 1932: Action directe de l'hypophyse sur les excroissances nuptiales de *Bombinator* pachypus. C. R. Acad. Sci., 194: 206-208.
- Hede, K.-E., and C. B. Jørgensen, 1978: Growth and reproduction in a wild toad population. Pages 113-116 in "Com-

parative Endocrinology" (P. J. Gaillard and H. H. Boer, eds.). Elsevier, Amsterdam.

- Hedeen, S. E., 1972: Postmetamorphic growth and reproduction of the mink frog, *Rana septentrionalis* Baird. Copeia 1972: 169-175.
- Hempelmann, F., 1908: Der Frosch. Klinkhardt, Leipzig.
- Héron-Royer, L. F., 1883. Note sur l'hybridation des Batraciens anoures et ses produits congénères et bigénères. Bull. Soc. Zool. France, 7-8: 397-417.
- Héron-Royer, L. F., 1885: Notices sur les mæurs des Batraciens. Bull. Soc. d'étud. Sci. d'Angers, 14. année, 1884, 92-134.
- Heusser, H., 1963: Die Ovulation des Erdkrötenweibchens im Rahmen der Verhaltensorganisation von Bufo bufo L. Rev. Suisse Zool., 70: 741-758.
- Heusser, H., 1968a: Die Lebensweise der Erdkröte Bufo bufo (L.); Wanderungen und Sommerquartiere. Rev. Suisse Zool., 75: 927-982.
- Heusser, H., 1968b: Die Lebensweise der Erdkröte, Bufo bufo (L.). Der Magenfüllungsgrad im Abhängigkeit von Jagdstimmung und Wetter. Sitzungsber. Ges. Naturforsch. Freunde, Berlin, 8: 148-156.
- Heusser, H., 1968c: Die Lebensweise der Erdkröte, Bufo bufo (L.); Laichzeit, Umstimmung, Ovulation, Verhalten. Vierteljahrschrift Naturforsch. Gesellsch. Zürich, 113: 257-289.
- Heusser, H., 1969. Die Lebensweise der Erdkröte, Bufu bufo (L.); Nahrungsaufnahme und Pigmentierung der Daumenschwielen im Jahreslauf. Biol. Zbl., 88: 457-467.
- Hing, L. K., 1959-61: The breeding habits and development of Rana chalconota (Schleg.) (Amphibia). Treubia, 25: 89-111.
- Hönig, J., 1966: Über Eizahlen von *Rana temporaria*. Salamandra, 2: 70-72.
- Holmes, S. J., 1916: The Biology of the Frog. Macmillan, New York.
- Houssay, B. A., 1947: Ovulacion del sapo Bufo arenarum Henkel. II. Fenómenos ováricos. Rev. Arg. Biol., 23, 186-195.
- Itämies, J., and P. Koskela, 1970: On the diet of the common frog (*Rana temporaria* L). Aquilo Ser. Zool. 10, 53-60.
- Jastrzebski, M., 1968: Morphological changes in the reproductive organs of the female march frog (*Rana arvalis* Nilss.) in the yearly cycle. Acta biol. crac., Ser. Zool., 11: 9-19.
- Jørgensen, C. B., 1970: Hypothalamic control of hypophysial function in anurans. Pages 649-661 in "The Hypothalamus" (L. Martini, M. Motta, and F. Fraschini, eds.) Academic Press, New York.
- Jørgensen, C. B., 1973a: Mechanisms regulating ovarian function in amphibians (toads). Pages 133-151 in "The Development and Maturation of the Ovary and its Functions" (Hannah Peters, ed.). Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam.
- Jørgensen, C. B., 1973b: Pattern of recruitment of oocytes to se-

cond growth phase in normal toads, and in hypophysectomized toads, *Bufo bufo bufo* (L.), treated with gonadotropin (HCG). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 21: 152-159.

- Jørgensen, C. B., 1975: Factors controlling the annual ovarian cycle in the toad *Bufo bufo bufo* (L.). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 25: 264-273.
- Jørgensen, C. B., and S. Vijayakumar, 1970: Annual oviduct cycle and its control in the toad, *Bufo bufo* L. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 14: 404-411.
- Jørgensen, C. B., K. Brems, and P. Geckler, 1978a: Volume and osmotic regulation in the toad *Bufo bufo bufo* (L.) at low temperature, with special reference to amphibian hibernation. Pages 62-74 in "Osmotic and Volume Regulation" (C. B. Jørgensen and E. Skadhauge, eds.) Munksgaard, Copenhagen.
- Jørgensen, C. B., K.-E. Hede, and L. O. Larsen, 1978b: Environmental control of annual ovarian cycle in the toad *Bufo bufo bufo L*.: Role of temperature. Pages 28-36 in "Environmental Endocrinology" (I. Assenmacher and D. S. Farner, eds.) Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Juszczyk, W., 1950: The food of the aquatic frog Rana esculenta L. in the natural water reservoirs and in the artificial fish ponds. Bull. Acad. Polon. Sci. Ser. B II: 31-80.
- Juszczyk, W., 1959: The development of the reproductive organs of the female common frog (*Rana temporaria* L.) in the yearly cycle (Polish, English Summary). Ann. Univ. Mariae Curie-Sklodowska, Lublin, Ser. C Biol., 14: 169-231.
- Juszczyk, W., and W. Zamachowski, 1965: Terms of ovulation and oviposition of the grass frog (*Rana temporaria* L.) in conditions of an artificial and prolonged hibernation. Acta biol. crac., Ser. Zool., 8: 211-223.
- Juszczyk, W., and W. Zamachowski, 1973: Morphological changes in the reproductive organs of the female edible frog (*Rana esculenta* L.) in the annual cycle. Acta Biol. crac., Ser. Zool., 16: 167-178.
- Juszczyk, W., B. Kabala, and S. Krawczyk, 1972: Changes in the histological structure of the oviducts of the common frog (*Rana temporaria* L.) in the yearly cycle. Acta Biol. crac., Zool., 15: 59-66.
- Juszczyk, W., K. Obrzut, and W. Zamachowski, 1966: Morphological changes in the alimentary canal of the common frog (*Rana temporaria* L.) in the annual cycle. Acta Biol. crac., Ser. Zool., 9: 239-246.
- Kalk, M., 1960: Climate and breeding in *Xenopus laevis*. S. Afr. J. Sci., 11: 271-276.
- von Kennel, P., 1912: Les corps adipolymphoîdes des Batraciens. C. R. Acad. Sci., 154: 1378-1380.
- von Kennel, P., 1913: Les corps adipolymphoîdes des Batraciens. Ann. Sc. Nat. Zool., 17: 219-254.
- Kirby, A. C., 1970: Androgens of the leopard frog Rana pipiens Schreber. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 34: 237-239.

- Kjær, K., and C. B. Jørgensen, 1971: Effects of mammalian gonadotropins on ovary in the toad Bufo bufo bufo (L.). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 17: 424-431.
- de Kort, E. J. M., 1971: Het interstitium testis bij de groene kikker, *Rana esculenta*. (The testicular interstitial tissue of the green frog, *Rana esculenta*). Thesis, Utrecht.
- Koskela, P., and S. Pasanen, 1974: The wintering of the common frog, *Rana temporaria* L., in northern Finland. Aquilo, Ser. Zool., 15: 1-17.
- Koskela, P., and S. Pasanen, 1975: The reproductive biology of the female common frog, *Rana temporaria* L., in northern Finland. Aquilo, Ser. Zool., 16: 1-12.
- Kozlowska, M., 1971: Differences in the reproductive biology of mountain and lowland common frogs, *Rana temporaria* L. Acta Biol. crac., Ser. Zool., 14: 17-32.
- Krawczyk, S., 1971: Changes in the lipid and water content in some organs of the common frog (*Rana temporaria* L.) in the annual cycle. Acta Biol. crac., Ser. Zool., 14: 211-237.
- Krawczyk, S., 1974: Annual cycle of changes in lipid and water content of some organs of the edible frog (*Rana esculenta* L.). Folia Biol. Kraków, 22: 309-326.
- Lee, P. A., 1965: Histological and biochemical analysis of the annual cycle of growth and secretion in the oviduct of *Rana pipiens*. The University of Michigan, Dissertation.
- Lewis, H. L., and F. L. Rose, 1969: Effects of fat body fatty acids
- on ovarian and liver metabolism of *Ambystoma tigrinum*.
   Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 30: 1055-1060.
- Lieberkind, I., 1937: Vergleichende Studien über die Morphologie und Histogenese der larvalen Haftorgane bei den Amphibien. Reizel, Copenhagen.
- Lofts, B., 1963: Gonadotrophic function in auto-transplanted pituitaries of *Bufo bufo*. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 3: 717 (abstr.).
- Lofts, B., 1964: Seasonal changes in the functional activity of interstitial and spermatogenetic tissue of the green frog, *Rana esculenta*. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol, 4: 550-562.
- Lofts, B., 1968: Patterns of testicular activity. Pages 239-304 in "Perspectives in Endocrinology: Hormones in the Lives of Lower Vertebrates" (E. J. W. Barrington and C. Barker Jørgensen, eds.). Academic Press, New York.
- Lofts, B., 1969: Seasonal cycles in reptilian testes. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Suppl. 2: 147-155.
- Lofts, B., 1974: Reproduction. Pages 107-218 in "Physiology of the Amphibia" (B. Lofts, ed.). Academic Press, New York.
- Lofts, B., and H. Bern, 1972: The functional morphology of steroidogenic tissues. Pages 37-125 in "Steroids in Nonmammalian Vertebrates" (D. Idler, ed.). Academic Press, New York.
- Lofts, B., and C. Boswell, 1960: Cyclical changes in the distribution of the testis lipids in the common frog, *Rana temporaria*. Nature, 187: 708-709.
- Lofts, B., J. J. Wellen, and Th. J. Benraad, 1972: Seasonal

changes in endocrine organs of the male common frog, *Rana temporaria*. III. The gonads and cholesterol cycles. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 18: 344-363.

- March, F., 1937: Some hormone effects in Amphibia. Proc. Zool. Soc. Lond., 107: 603-665.
- Mazur, T., 1967: Seasonal variations in the energy reserves of Bufo bufo (L.) and Rana arvalis Nilss. (Anura) in Poland. Ekol. pol., Ser. A., 15: 607-613.
- Mazzocco, P., 1938: Variations saisonnières de la composition du foie du crapaud, *Bufo arenarum* Hensel, C. R. Soc. Biol. 129: 856-859.
- Mazzocco, P., 1940a: Variaciones estacionales del peso y composición de los cuerpos adiposos del sapo Bufo arenarum Hensel. Rev. Soc. argent. Biol., 16: 129-138.
- Mazzocco, P., 1940b: Variations saisonnières du poids et de la composition chimique de l'ovaire et des testicules du crapaud. C. R. Soc. Biol., 134: 289-290.
- McAllister, W. H., 1962: Variation in *Rana pipiens* Schreber in Texas. Am. Midland Naturalist, 67: 334-363.
- Miller, M. R., and M. E. Robbins, 1954: The reproductive cycle in *Taricha torosa (Triturus torosus)*. J. Exp. Zool., 125: 415.
- Milone, M., L. Iela, V. Esposito, R. K. Rastogi, and G. Chieffi, 1978: Annual variations in the total lipid and protein content of the liver, fat body, ovary and plasma of the female frog (*Rana esculenta* L.). J. Endocr., 78: 165-169.
- Mizell, S., 1964: Seasonal differences in spermatogenesis and oogenesis in *Rana pipiens*. Nature, 202: 875-876.
- Mizell, S., 1965: Seasonal changes in energy reserves in the common frog, *Rana pipiens*. J. Cell. Comp. Physiol., 66: 251-258.
- Moore, J. A., 1949a: Patterns of evolution in the genus Rana. Pages 315-338 in "Genetics, Paleontology, and Evolution" (G. L. Jepsen, E. Mayr and G. G. Simpson, eds). Princeton Univ. Press, New Jersey.
- Moore, J. A., 1949b: Geographic variation of adaptive characters in *Rana pipiens* Schreber. Evolution, 3: 1-24:
- Moore, J. A., 1950: Further studies on *Rana pipiens* racial hybrids. Am. Nat., 84: 247-254.
- Morgan, T. H., 1904: The Development of the Frog's Egg. New York.
- Morton, R. A., and D. G. Rosen, 1949: Carotenoids, vitamin A and 7-dehydrosteroid in the frog (*Rana temporaria*). Biochem. J., 45: 612-627.
- Müller, B., H.-J. Obert, and H. Schneider, 1977: Untersuchungen zur homonalen Steuerung der Ausbildung der Brunstschwielen bei der Riesen-Erdkröte Bufo bufo spinosus Daudin, 1803 (Bufonidae, Anura). Zool. Jahrb., Abt. Allg. Zool. Physiol. Tiere, 81: 90-111.
- Nalbandov, A. V., 1976: Reproductive Physiology of Mammals and Birds. Freeman, San Fransisco.
- Obert, H.-J., 1971: Morphologie von Hoden und Hypophyse der Erdkröte (*Bufo bufo bufo*) während der Fortpflanzungsperiode. Zool. Jb. Physiol. 76: 185-197.

- Obert, H.-J., 1973: Untersuchungen zur hormonalen Steuerung der Ruf- und Paarungsaktivität bei der Rot- und Gelbbauchunke Bombina bombina (L.) und Bombina v. variegata (L.) Zool. Jahrb., Abt. Allg. Zool. Physiol. Tiere, 77: 166-198.
- Obert, H.-J., 1975: Zur hormonalen Steuerung des Differenzierungshöhe von Cutisbildungen bei Anuren. II. Untersuchungen am intakten, kastrierten und hypophysectomierten Bombina v. variegata (L.). Zool. Jb. Physiol., 79: 528-576.
- van Oordt, P. G. W. J., 1956: Regulation of the Spermatogenetic Cycle in the Common Frog (*Rana temporaria*). Doctoral Thesis, Univ. of Utrecht.
- van Oordt, P. G. J. W., 1960: The influence of internal and external factors in the regulation of the spermatogenetic cycle in amphibia. Symp. Zool. Soc. Lond., 2: 29-52.
- Oplinger, C. S., 1966: Sex ratio, reproductive cycles, and time of ovulation in *Hyla crucifer crucifer* Wied. Herpetologica, 22: 276-283.
- Ott, M. D., 1924: Changes in the weights of the various organs and parts of the leopard frog (*Rana pipiens*) at different stages of inanition. Amer. J. Anat., 33: 17-56.
- Pasanen, S., and P. Koskela, 1974: Seasonal and age variation in the metabolism of the common frog, *Rana temporaria* L., in northern Finland. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 47A: 635-654.
- Penhos, J. C., 1952: Papel de los cuerpos grasos del Bufo arenarum Hensel. Rev. Soc. Arg. Biol., 28: 213-219.
- Pettus, D., and G. M. Angleton, 1967: Comparative reproductive biology of montane and piedmont chorus frogs. Evolution, 21: 500-507.
- Ploetz, A. J., 1890: Die Vorgänge in den Froschhoden unter den Einfluss der Jahreszeit. Arch. Anat. Phys., phys. Abt., Suppl. 1890, 1-32.
- Ponse, K., 1924: L'organe de Bidder et le déterminisme des caractères sexuels secondaires du Crapaud (*Bufo vulgaris* L.). Rev. Suisse Zool., 31: 177-336.
- Rey, P., 1939: Action de l'ablation du lobe principal de l'hypophyse sur le cycle annuel des cellules sexuelles mâles de Bufo vulgaris. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 208: 1116-1119.
- Roca, A., A. Maurice, J. Baraud, C. Maugé, and R. Cambar, 1970: Etude des lipides du corps adipeux de *Rana esculenta*.
  C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, série D: 1278-1281.
- Rose, F. L., 1967: Seasonal changes in lipid levels of the salamander *Amphiuma means*. Copeia 1967: 662-666.
- Rose, F. L., and H. L. Lewis, 1968: Changes in weight and free fatty acid concentration of fat bodies of paedogenic Ambystoma tigrinum during vitellogenesis. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 26: 149-154.
- Rostand, J., 1934: Hypophyse et ovulation chez les Batraciens. C. R. Soc. Biol., 117: 1079-1081.

Rugh, R., 1948: Experimental Embryology. Burgess, Mineapolis. Rugh, R., 1951: The Frog. Its Reproduction and Development. Blakiston, Philadelphia.

- Salthe, S. N., and W. E. Duellman, 1973: Quantitative constraints associated with reproductive mode in anurans. Pages 229-249 in "Evolutionary Biology of the Anurans" (J. L. Vial, ed.). Univ. Missouri Press, Columbia.
- Salthe, S. N., and J. S. Mecham, 1974: Reproductive and courtship patterns. Pages 310-521 in "Physiology of the Amphibia" (B. Lofts, ed.). Academic Press, New York.
- Shapiro, B. G., and H. A. Shapiro, 1934: Histological changes in the ovaries and ovarian blood-vessels of *Xenopus laevis*, associated with hypophysectomy. Captivity and the normal reproductive cycle. J. exp. Biol., 11: 73-80.
- Smith, C. L., 1950: Seasonal changes in blood sugar, fat body, liver glycogen, and gonads in the common frog, *Rana temporaria*. J. exp. Biol., 26: 412-429.
- Seymour, R. S., 1973: Energy metabolism of dormant spadefoot toads (Scaphiopus). Copeia 1973: 435-445.
- Snyder, B. W., and A. W. Schuetz, 1973: In vitro evidence of steroidogenesis in the amphibian (*Rana pipiens*) ovarian follicle and its relationship to meiotic maturation and ovulation. J. exp. Zool., 183: 333-342.
- Spallanzani, 1786: Versuche über die Erzeugung der Thiere und Pflanzen. Deutsche Uebersetzung, Leipzig.
- Su, T., and W. Yu-lan, 1963a: L'hibernation, facteur determinant de la maturation ovulaire chez le crapaud (Bufo bufo asiaticus). Scientia Sinica, 12: 1161-1164.
- Su, T., and W. Yu-lan, 1963b: La succession d'ovogenèse et l'impossibilité de maturation ovulaire chez le crapaud femelle élevée dans le milieu à haute température pendant toute une année. Scientia Sinica, 12: 1165-1168.
- Tam, W. H., J. G. Phillips, and B. Lofts, 1969: Seasonal changes in the in vitro production of testicular androgens by the Cobra (*Naja naja* Linn). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 13: 117-125.
- Terentjev, P. V., 1960: Some quantitative peculiarities of frog eggs and tadpoles. Zool. Zhur., 39: 779-81.
- Thibier-Fouchet, C., O. Mulner, and R. Ozon, 1976: Progesterone biosynthesis and metabolism by ovarian follicles

and isolated oocytes of Xenopus laevis. Biol. Reprod., 14: 317-326.

- Thornton, V. F., and P. J. Evennett, 1973: Changes in the fine structure of the ovarian follicle of the toad (*Bufo bufo*) prior to induced ovulation. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 20: 413-424.
- Ting, H.-P., and A. M. Boring, 1940: The seasonal cycle in the reproductive organs of the Chinese toad Bufo bufo and the pond frog Rana nigromaculata. Peking Nat. Hist. Bull., 14: 49-80.
- Tucker, J. K. 1976: Erroneous usage of the name Rana pipiens. Copeia 1976: 412-413.
- Victoroff, K., 1908: Zur Kenntniss der Veränderungen des Fettgewebes beim Froschen während des Winterschlafes. Arch. ges. Physiol., 125: 230-236.
- Vijayakumar, S., C. B. Jørgensen, and K. Kjær, 1971: Regulation of ovarian cycle in the toad *Bufo bufo bufo* (L.). Effects of autografting pars distalis of the hypophysis, of extirpating gonadotropic hypothalamic region, and of partial ovariectomy. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 17: 432-443.
- Waring, H., F. W. Landgrebe, and R. M. Neill, 1941: Ovulation and oviposition in the anura. J. exp. Biol., 18: 11-25.
- Wasserman, W. J., and Y. Masui, 1976: A cytoplasmic factor promoting oocyte maturation: Its extraction and preliminary characterization. Science, 191: 1266-1268.
- Wiedersheim, R., 1886: Lehrbuch der vergleichenden Anatomie der Wirbelthiere. 2. Auflage, Gustav Fischer, Jena.
- Zahl, P. A., 1937: Cytologische Untersuchungen über die Hypophysis cerebri des weiblichen Frosches. Unter besonderer Berücksichtung der Fortpflanzungstätigkeit. Z. mikr. anat. Forsch., 42: 303-361.
- Zepp, P., 1923: Beiträge zur vergleichenden Untersuchungen der heimischen Froscharten. Z. Anat. Entw.gesch., 69: 84-180.
- Zwarenstein, H., and H. A. Shapiro, 1933: Metabolic changes associated with endocrine activity and the reproductive cycle in *Xenopus laevis*. III. Changes in the calcium content of the serum associated with captivity and the normal reproductive cycle. J. exp. Biol., 10: 372-378.

Indleveret til Selskabet marts 1979. Færdig fra trykkeriet september 1979.

# Biologiske Skrifter

Biol. Skr. Dan. Vid. Selsk. Priser excl. moms

#### Vol. 17 (DKr. 330.-)

- 1. DEGERBØL, MAGNUS, and FREDSKILD, BENT: The Urus (Bos primigenius Bojanus) and Neolithic Domesticated Cattle (Bos taurus domesticus Linné) in Denmark. With a Revision of Bos-Remains from the Kitchen Middens. Zoological and Palynological Investigations. 1970... 200.-
- HANSEN, HANS JØRGEN: Electron-Microscopical Studies on the Ultrastructures of some Perforate Calcitic Radiate and Granulate Foraminifera. 1970...... 50.-

#### Vol. 18 (DKr. 450.-)

- HANSEN, GEORG NØRGAARD: On the Structure and Vascularization of the Pituitary Gland in some Primitive Actinopterygians (Acipenser, Polyodon, Calamoichthys, Polypterus, Lepisosteus and Amia). 1971..... 70.-
- PERCH-NIELSEN, KATHARINA: Elektronenmikroskopische Untersuchungen an Coccolithen und verwandten Formen aus dem Eozän von Dänemark. 1971... 160.–

#### Vol. 19 (DKr. 410.-)

- 4. WINGSTRAND, KARL GEORG: Comparative Spermatology of a Pentastomid, *Raillietiella Hemidactyli*, and a Branchiuran Crustacean, *Argulus Foliaceus*, with a Discussion of Pentastomid Relationships. 1972...... 80.-

#### Vol. 20 (DKr. 490.-)

	VOI. 20 (DISI. 150)	
1.	BLOM, LARS: Ridge Pattern and Surface Ultrastruc-	
	ture of the Oviducal Mucosa of the Hen (Gallus	
	domesticus). 1973	30
2.	JENSEN, POUL VAGN: Structure and Metamorphosis	
	of the Larval Heart of Calliphora erythrocephala. 1973	30
3.	HAMMER, MARIE: Oribatids from Tongatapu and	
	Eua, the Tonga Islands, and from Upolu, Western	
	Samoa. 1973	80
4.	GOODING, RICHARD U., and LÜTZEN, JØRGEN: Stu-	
	dies on Parasitic Gastropods from Echinoderms. III.	
	A Description of Robillardia Cernica Smith 1889,	
	Parasitic in the Sea Urchin Echinometra Meuschen,	
	with Notes on its Biology. 1973	30
5.	MANTON, I., and LEADBEATER, B. S. C.: Fine-struc-	
	tural Observations on six Species of Chrysochromulina	
	from Wild Danish Marine Nanoplankton, including	
	a Description of C. cambanulifera sp. nov. and a Pre-	

liminary Summary of the Nanoplankton as a Whole.

1974 ..... 40.–

6.	BIRKELUND, TOVE, and HANSEN, HANS JØRGEN: Shell								
	Ultrastructures of some Maastrichtian Ammonoidea								
	and Coleoidea and their Taxonomic Implications.								
	1974	50							

- POULSEN, CHR.: Silurian Pelecypoda, Monoplacophora, and Gastropoda from the Reefy Facies of the Offley Island Formation of Washington Land and Offley Island (Northwest Greenland). 1974...... 30.-

#### Vol. 21 (DKr. 650.-)

1.	NYGAARD,	GUNNAR:	New	or	Interesting	Plankton	
	Algae, 197	7					150

#### Vol. 22 (uafsluttet/unfinished)

- BÖCHER, TYGE W., and OLESEN, PETER: Structural and Ecophysiological Pattern in the Xero-Halophytic C<sub>4</sub> Grass, *Sporobolus rigens* (Tr.) Desv..... 100.-

- 4. HAMMER, MARIE, and WALLWORK, JOHN A.: A Review of the World Distribution of Oribatid Mites (*Acari: Cryptostigmata*) in Relation to Continental Drift. 1979 50.–

- Тном, René: Théorie des catastrophes et biologie: Plaidoyer pour une biologie théorique. 1979..... 30.-
- 8. Böcher, Tyge W.: Xeromorphic Leaf Types. Evolutionary Strategies and Tentative Semophyletic Sequences.
- 9. HAMMER, MARIE: Investigations on the Oribatid Fauna of Java.

#### Volume 23

1. NIELSEN, ANKER: A Comparative Study of the Genital Chamber in Female *Trichoptera*.

Printed in Denmark by Bianco Lunos Bogtrykkeri A/S. ISSN 0366-3612. ISBN 87-7304-085-1